REVISED
AGENDA
Committee

-

CABINET

Date & Time

-

Tuesday, 21 July 2015 at 6.30 pm

Venue

-

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road,
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:
Councillors: G A Porter (Leader of the Council), C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the
Council), M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones,
C J Lawton, S-A Slade and G J Taylor.
No substitutions permitted. Revised quorum 4.
Note:

Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels. They
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current
committee cycle.

Persons attending the meeting are
requested to turn mobile telephones to
silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE
Date: 16 July 2015

Please ask for Amanda Taylor: Telephone 01775 764837
e-mail: amandataylor@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence.

2.

Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the
Cabinet held on 16 June 2015 (copy enclosed).

3.

Declarations of Interest.

(Pages
1 - 4)

(Councillors are reminded that under the Code of Conduct they are not
to participate in the whole of an agenda item to which they have a
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest. In the interests of transparency,
councillors may also wish to declare any other interests that they have,
in relation to an agenda item, that supports the Nolan principles detailed
within the Code of Conduct.)
4.

Questions raised by the public under Cabinet Procedure Rule 2.4.

5.

To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.

6.

To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules.

7.

Open for Business - Following analysis of the local economic profile and
consultation with partners and local businesses, this report requests that
Cabinet adopts the ’Open for Business’ approach to support the delivery
of the Council’s business and economic growth priorities (report of the
Portfolio Holder for Commercialisation enclosed)

(Pages
5 - 12)

8.

Delegations for the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 To seek delegated authority in respect of powers pursuant to the AntiSocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (report of the Portfolio
Holder for Community Development and the Community Development
and Health Manager enclosed)

(Pages
13 - 78)

9.

Various Areas of Housing Land - To seek authority to appropriate
existing Council owned land from the Housing Revenue Account to the
General Fund. (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and the
Housing Manager enclosed.)

(Pages
79 - 86)

10.

Write Offs - To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts. (Joint report
of Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Finance and the Assistant
Director Finance (s151 Officer) enclosed).

(Pages
87 - 90)

(Please note that the appendices associated with this report are not for
publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1 (Information relating to any
individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an
individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs
of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972,
and are therefore attached to this agenda as Item 12. )

11.

Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. Note:

(i)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s)
should be considered as a matter of urgency.

(ii)

Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must
be dealt with in accordance with paragraphs 15 and 16 of
the Constitution’s Access to Information Procedure
Rules.

12.

To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

13.

Write Offs Appendix (Enclosed).

(Pages
91 100)

This page is intentionally left blank

-1-

Agenda Item 2.

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 16 June 2015 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
G A Porter (Leader of the Council)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader
of the Council)
M G Chandler (Deputy
Leader)

A Casson
P E Coupland
R Gambba-Jones

Junior Portfolio Holders:

A R Woolf

C J Lawton
G J Taylor
S-A Slade

Chief Executive, Executive Director Place (S151), Democratic Services and Legal
Manager and the Democratic Services Officer.
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors B Alcock
(Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) and A M Newton (Independent Group
Leader), together with the outh Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service.
In Attendance: Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee)
and Councillor M D Seymour (Chairman, Policy Development Panel).
Community Representatives: Councillor R W G Boot (Parish Councils) and
Councillor H T Drury (Local Business Organisations).
Action By

1.

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 February 2015 were
signed by the Leader as a correct record.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
No interests were declared. However Councillor H T Drury
advised that this would be his last attendance as a representative
of Local Business Organisations, due to his recent election as a
District Councillor.

3.

QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER CABINET
PROCEDURE RULE 2.4
No questions were raised under Cabinet Procedure Rile 2.4.

4.

MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN
There were no matters subject to call-in.

Page 1

-2CABINET - 16 June 2015
5.

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS
There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and
Performance Monitoring Panels.

6.

APPOINTMENT OF PANELS AND WORKING PARTIES
Consideration was given to the report of the Democratic Services
and Legal Manager which sought consideration of the
recommendations of the Council in respect of the appointment of
Panels and Working Parties. Details of the nominations in
respect of the Pre-Application Consultation Group and the ICT
Councillor Working Group were tabled at the meeting.
DECISION:
a)

That the Pre-Application Consultation Group be reestablished for the municipal year without amendment to the
terms of reference; and substitutions be permitted where
members form part of a political group subject to (i)
substitutions applying for individual meetings only, and (ii)
the group leader of nominated representative submitting
details to the Democratic Services and Legal Manager by
noon on the day of the meeting, or at least three hours
before the meeting, whichever is the sooner; and that the
composition be formed by the following councillors: G R
Aley, F Biggadike, A Casson, P E Coupland, L J Eldridge, R
Gambba-Jones, A Harrison, M Pullen, M Seymour, B
Alcock, C J T H Brewis and P A Williams.

b)

That the Housing Allocations Appeal Panel be re-established AT
for the municipal year without amendment to the terms of
reference or composition; and no substitution arrangements
be permitted other than those already detailed in the
composition;

c)

That the Discretionary Housing Payments Review Board be AT
re-established for the municipal year without amendment to
its terms of reference or composition; and no substitution
arrangements be permitted other than those already detailed
in the composition; and

d)

That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for AT
the municipal year without amendment to the terms of
reference; that substitution arrangements apply (including for
the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT) where
members form part of a political group subject to (i)
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the

Page 2

AT

-3CABINET - 16 June 2015

group leader or nominated representative submitting details
to the Democratic Services and Legal Manager by noon on
the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the
meeting, whichever is the sooner; and that the composition
be formed by the following councillors: G R Aley, J Astill, M
G Chandler, A Harrison, C J T H Brewis, P Foyster and S
Slade – Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT .
(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations; or
 To approve the recommendations with amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 The Panel and Working Groups recommended for reappointment had a future role to perform in advising the
Cabinet or making decisions under delegated authority.)
7.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE QUARTER 4 2014-15
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director
Place (S151) which provided members with information on the
draft year end financial position of the Council, as at 31 March
2015 and sought agreement of various recommendations.
The Financial Report for the quarter ending 31 March 2015 was
attached as Appendix 1 within the report, and the General Fund
Variance Analysis was attached as Appendix 2 within the report.
Councillor M G Chandler queried the reason for putting £58,442
into reserves. The Executive Director Place (S151) explained that
it was a matter of best practice.
Councillor C N Worth queried where the £704,517 had come
from. The Executive Director Place (S151) explained that it was
the net total of and combination of underspends and in year
windfalls.
The Leader requested information as to the number of Right To
Buy properties assumed within the Housing Revenue Account.
The Executive Director Place (S151) advised that she would
obtain and provide him with the information the next day.
The Leader also referred to land search charges and requested
that officers ensure that any monies be paid back to the individual
clients incurring the costs rather than going through the solicitors.
RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:
a)

That £704,517 be transferred into reserves for use in 201516; and

Page 3

JK

-4CABINET - 16 June 2015

b)

That £58,442 be earmarked in reserves for use in 2015-16.

JK

DECISION:
c)

That the financing of the 2014-15 Capital Programme be
approved;

d)

That the Capital Programme for 2014-15 and associated
financing be amended to reflect the schemes requested to
be carried forward from 2014-15 to 2015-16;

e)

That the Executive Director Place (S151) obtain and provide
the Leader with information regarding the Right To Buy
properties; and

JK

f)

That any monies incurred by clients, with regard to land
charges, be returned directly to the clients rather than
through their solicitors.

JK

JK

JK

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations; or
 To approve the recommendations without amendments.
Reasons for decision:
 To provide timely information to members on the overall
finances of the Council and to make the best use of resources
available.)
(The meeting ended at 6.45 pm)
(End of minutes)
These minutes are published on Friday 19 June 2015. In accordance with the
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated,
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 29 June 2015 (i.e. after
the expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless
during that period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and
complies with the requirements of Rules 15(b), (c) and (d) of the Overview and
Scrutiny Procedure Rules is served on the Democratic Services and Legal Manager
requesting that the decision be called-in and the Democratic Services and Legal
Manager approves the request for call-in. Where a decision is called-in it will firstly
be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.
Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.
Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 24 June 2015.

Page 4

Agenda Item 7.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Nick Worth - Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for
Commercialisation

To:

Cabinet - 21July 2015

Author:

Anna Graves - Chief Executive

Subject:

Open for Business

Purpose:

Following analysis of the local economic profile and consultation with partners and
local businesses, this report requests that Cabinet adopts the ’Open for Business’
approach to support the delivery of the Council’s business and economic growth
priorities.

Recommendations:
That Cabinet:
1)
2)
3)
4)

Adopts the ‘Open for Business’ approach as set out in this report;
In recognising the importance of providing opportunities for local business across our District,
Cabinet supports the ‘Meet the South Holland Buyer Event’, as set out in section 3.4;
That the key areas for action, set out in section 4.0 be approved in principle and that an
action plan to achieve those key actions is developed;
That officers review the Council’s procurement policies and procedures in order to be as
inclusive as possible

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council recognises the important contribution successful and growing businesses
make to our District, and embraces its role in supporting the continued success and growth
of our local economy and business base. Pre-requisite to meeting our business and
economic growth priorities, as set out in our Corporate Plan, is a clear understanding of
local need to enable us to focus our limited resources on the most effective and important
areas that make the greatest differences for our businesses. To achieve this, an analysis of
our district economic profile and business base was commissioned and a number of priority
actions were identified as a result of that exercise.

1.2

A consultation process was undertaken with a cross section of South Holland businesses,
local business support organisations, representatives of the Greater Lincolnshire Local
Enterprise Partnership(GLLEP) and local authority partners at an ‘Open for Business’
consultation event held at the Springfields Exhibition Centre on 19 February 2015. The
purpose of the event was to consult with businesses on the three main propositions
recommended as a result of the analysis undertaken, to ensure they meet local business
needs and expectations. The event was also key in helping the Council to identify and
understand any barriers to growth businesses may be facing.

2.0

South Holland District



South Holland has a population of around 90,000 and is set to grow a further 15% by
2021.
38,900 are in employment across the district, this equates to 76.6% of the working
population as opposed to 72.4% nationally.

Page 5















Gross weekly pay in South Holland is £469 against a national average of £520. Whilst
the South Holland economy is often seen as a low wage economy, figures show that in
fact South Holland has higher level earnings by residence than Boston and King’s Lynn
and West Norfolk, and are on a par with Peterborough.
There are a total of 3,465 enterprises in South Holland, 3,075 with 0-9 employees
whereas there are 10 with 250+ employees. This shows the food hub effect, how a
small number of large businesses are being supported and supplied by the smaller
businesses throughout the supply chain
Food manufacturing is 13 times more significant as an employer in the district than the
national average.
Transport and storage also shows up as twice the national average.
22% of South Holland’s enterprises are directly engaged in agriculture and 14% in
construction.
Employment – agriculture and horticulture employ circa 3,000 directly and up to 10,000
including seasonal labour, giving flexibility. Food related and general manufacturing
employs over 11,000, the construction sector 3,200, wholesale and retail trade 7,000
and logistics 2,700.
One of the district’s strongest assets is its readily available, flexible workforce which
compliments the 24/7 working patterns that a lot of modern manufacturing businesses
demand.
South Holland has strong geographical and economic ties with Peterborough and
Boston, and to a lesser extent with King’s Lynn and West Norfolk through common
interest in supporting and growing the agri-food sector and related supply chains,
including food processing, logistics and distribution, packaging and storage. Good road
transport connections are also important to the whole district and beyond.
Anecdotal evidence suggests that some 35% of the nation’s food will touch South
Holland District businesses at some point in its ‘life’.

3.0

Open for Business Key Areas of Focus

3.1

The conclusion of the analysis and subsequent stakeholder consultation recognises the
Council’s limited resources and the importance of focusing on a small number of key areas
that could add most value to local businesses.

3.2

It is important to enhance our partnership working with our public and private sector
partners and continue to build on our relationship and involvement with the GLLEP and
expand our LEP presence beyond traditional administrative boundaries to include the
Greater Cambridge and Greater Peterborough, (GCCPLED) area by holding dual LEP
membership.

3.3

Attracting funding and inward investment into the district and working with partners to
deliver an identified number of strategic growth projects will support the growth of our key
industry sectors.

3.4

The opportunity to trade with the council and the wider public sector should be promoted
locally. To support this, the council will organise and support accessible framework
arrangements wherever possible, and will host a ‘Meet the Buyer Event’ to give local
businesses the opportunity to understand how the Council procures its goods and services
and engage in workshops to understand the necessary tendering processes. This will
better inform local businesses of the range of contract opportunities available at the
Council.

Page 6

4.0

Key areas for Action

4.1

An action plan will be developed to support delivery under headings as follows:-

4.2

Key Area 1 Doing the Basics Well – Whole Council Approach

4.2.1

There are functions in which the council needs to demonstrate positive and proactive
competence. Planning is the most obvious, but delivering business growth requires
regulatory services, environmental health, licensing, customer services, in fact the whole
council to be business focused. Using our council assets and finances to kick-start growth,
especially regarding housing will be a focus. The Council is continuing the work, especially
in our regulatory services, to ensure there is a culture of enabling business, with restriction
as a measure of last resort.

4.2.2 The Council will make access easier in a number of ways; informed staff at every point of
contact and professional business relationship management, ensuring we are signposting
and providing brokerage to national and LEP support products and services. Members and
officers recognise the importance of connecting our services in order that the business
contact experience, regardless of the service you contact, is consistent. We know there are
clear links with services such as economic development because only together can they
deliver the outcomes needed such as housing, skills and support for business expansion.
4.3

Key Area 2 Focus on the key projects

4.3.1

The Council has to be realistic in where its focus should be and how much it can take on.
Some projects should be key and immediate tasks for South Holland, either leading or
working with and through others, to deliver. The focus will be on the strong links between
providing infrastructure and housing and leading to an environment of business growth.
With respect to physical investment:- we will focus on developing a pipeline of economic
development opportunities across South Holland including;
1. Spalding Western Relief Road
2. A151/A17 Peppermint Junction Interchange
3. Additional grow on units at Crease Drove, Crowland
4. Agri-food centre of Excellence at Holbeach
5. Broadband
6. Directly delivering our wider housing objectives

4.3.2

The Council have now been awarded pathfinder funding from DEFRA to promote a Local
Development Order on a site located adjacent to the A151/A17 at Holbeach. The purpose
of this is to incentivise the delivery and early occupation of an employment site to meet the
needs of food and farming related uses and employers. The Local Development Order will
seek to create an environment in which defined buildings and uses are certain to be
acceptable. It will seek to increase marketability and to compliment investments that
support the food and farming sector, becoming a food enterprise zone.

4.4

Key Area 3 Energising our work with partners

4.4.1

Doing the basics well and delivering projects by implication means South Holland District
Council becomes a partner of choice with Central Government, business, the LEPs, the
County Council and others, to set the framework for growth in the district. The Council
should do this in a way that builds on what strengths exist in South Holland, such as the
agri-food sector, and make the case and champion the need for investment.

Page 7

4.4.2

South Holland looks south to Peterborough and the GCGPLEP will be an important partner
in the future. The Council has become a member of the GCGPLEP. South Holland’s
participation in the GLLEP has taken a step change over the past months.

4.4.3 Our early focus has been on the creation of a Food Enterprise Zone at Holbeach, a focus on
work with the University and others to address South Holland’s knowledge of the economy
and skills opportunities - especially in agriculture/land-based, manufacturing, and logistics.
4.4.4

To be effective we need business support locally to work with and help us shape the South
Holland economic plan and work with us to deliver the action plan.

4.4.5

Continued involvement in the delivery of the Rural Development Programme for England
Wash Fens funding stream with Lincolnshire County Council. This is a DEFRA funded grant
scheme to support micro and small businesses, land based industries, rural services,
tourism, cultural and heritage activities. It will operate in the rural parts of Boston Borough
and South Holland plus Bourne, Stamford and the Deepings.

4.4.6 The SHDC Economic Development team have just submitted an application to the
European Regional Development Fund for funding under the 2014-2020 programme for
Grants4growth2 which is a grant program to small business to support efficiency and
growth. An indicative decision is due end of July.
5.0

Summary of Business Feedback from the South Holland Open for Business
Event

5.1

Businesses represented at the event on February thought overall that the three key areas
for focus presented were on the right track and supported the work packages to deliver
them.

5.2

On communication with the Council, they felt this was best done through personal
relationships with members and officers. South Holland District Council’s Environmental
Health Department was singled out as best practice in their approach to supporting local
businesses and that other services could learn from this. Planning decision timescales were
criticised as being too long and there was a strong feeling that ‘Open for Business’
proposition as presented seemed to focus mainly on the agri-food and related supply
chains. Better management of the Spalding town centre around anti-social behaviour and
cleanliness issues should also be a priority for the Council. In addition it was suggested that
the Council should assign a dedicated Spalding Town Portfolio Holder to deal with the town
as a whole.

5.3

The list of key infrastructure projects were supported with the dualing of the A16 a high
priority for some. It was recommended that the existing Water Space Strategy be revitalised
and if there was to be substantial housing growth it was important that the schools and
social infrastructure to support it would be put in place.

5.4

It was felt that an overall vision and development of master plan for the district could be of
benefit and felt this was missing at present. More events and marketing for the area was
needed to attract visitors. Consideration should be given for any new Grants4growth
programme to be broadened out to support horticulture and agriculture businesses.
Initiatives to address training and skills needs for the District are required. Drainage, water
security and flood management were also key issues to be addressed.

Page 8

6.0

OPTIONS

6.1

Option 1 – That Cabinet adopt the ‘Open for Business’ approach as set out in this report,
and in recognising the importance of providing opportunities for local business across our
District, Cabinet supports the ‘Meet the South Holland Buyer Event’, as set out in 4.3.

6.2

Option 2 – That Cabinet does not adopt the ’Open for Business’ approach as set out in this
report.

7.0

REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1

Option 1 - The Council is already pursuing its pivotal role within the district’s growth
agenda to fulfil its commitment within our corporate plan priority ‘To support the local
economy to be vibrant with continued growth’.

7.2

The Council has the opportunity to refresh its approach to economic and business
growth to ensure we meet local business needs and maximise our contribution to the
prosperity of the district, this in a context where the GLLEP (and GCGPLEP) has major
resources to commit to local and national economic growth priorities.

8.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

8.1

Tangible economic benefits will come from the activities and projects that the ‘Open for
Business’ approach delivers and will be measured by the Council’s corporate and team
plans, performance management systems and project evaluation reports.

8.2

Overall the district should see measurable growth in jobs, housing, inward investment,
business turnover figures, infrastructure development, Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and
Gross Value Added (GVA).

8.3

The suggested ‘Meet the South Holland Buyer Event’ will assist and facilitate the
opportunity for local businesses to bid for the Council’s goods, services and contracts and
improve their ability to secure new business from South Holland District Council and other
local authorities.

9.0

IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

9.1.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no adverse implications.

9.2

Constitution & Legal

9.2.1

This is a non-statutory service. The council has general powers that permit such projects.
The Council constitution allocated responsibility for this decision to Cabinet.

9.2.2

The procurement policy will be reviewed in order to allow local suppliers greater access to
council contracts subject of course of course to all legal requirements being complied with.

9.3

Contracts

9.3.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no adverse implications.

Page 9

9.4

Corporate Priorities

9.4.1

‘To support the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth’.

9.5

Crime and Disorder

9.5.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no adverse implications.

9.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

9.6.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no adverse implications.

9.7

Financial

9.7.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no direct financial implications. Critical
activities within team plans will deliver the Council’s corporate priorities and be funded
through service budgets or through external funding sources. ‘Meet the South Holland
Buyer Event’ can be funded within existing budgets.

9.8

Health & Wellbeing

9.8.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no adverse implications.

9.9

Risk Management

9.9.1

No risks directly as a result of this report. Risk management will be dealt with at both a
Corporate and project level.

9.10

Staffing

9.10.1 This is being dealt with through the current implementation of the shared senior
management restructure.
9.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

9.11.1 Consultation on draft proposals was carried out as outlined in section 1.2. Further
consultation on an arising action plan and procurement policy review will be undertaken
early autumn.
10.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1

All South Holland Wards

11.0

ACRONYMS
GDP
GVA
LEP
GLLEP
DEFRA
GCGPLEP

Gross Domestic Product
Gross Value Added
Local Enterprise Partnership
Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership
Department for Environmental, Food and Rural Affairs
Greater Cambridge and Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise
Partnership

Page 10

Lead Contact Officer

Anna Graves

Director / Officer who will be
attending the Meeting

Anna Graves

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to both Mandatory and Discretionary Services
Appendices

None

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

The Portfolio Holder for Community Development, and the Community
Development and Health Manager

To:

Cabinet - 21 July 2015

Author:

Dee Bedford (Anti-Social Behaviour Officer)

Subject:

Delegations for the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Purpose:

To seek delegated authority in respect of powers pursuant to the Anti-Social
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

Recommendation:
It is recommended to Cabinet that
1)

New delegations and amendments to existing delegations as a result of the enactment of the
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 be approved in accordance with Appendix
A.

2)

That the Executive Director – Commissioning and Governance and the Executive Manager –
Governance, be authorised to make such amendments to these delegations as may be
required to reflect changes in staffing structures and post titles.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 received Royal Assent on 13
March 2014. The Act has amended much of the legislation currently in use by local
authorities for dealing with anti-social behaviour. The majority of the new legislation came
into force on 20 October 2014.

1.2

The new Act is designed to place the victim of Anti-Social Behaviour at the heart of the
response of local authorities and their partners and provides more flexibility to deal
effectively with any reports. The Act has streamlined the previous nineteen powers down to
six; Civil Injunction, Criminal Behaviour Order, Community Protection Notice, Public Space
Protection Orders, Closure Orders and Dispersal Powers for Police. An outline of the new
enforcement powers along with information on the new Community Trigger and Community
Remedies can be found at Appendix B.

1.3

Work has been ongoing at a county level to prepare for the new legislation and a county
wide strategy has been agreed alongside associated procedures. The county wide
documents will be the basis for amendments to the current Anti-Social Behaviour Policy.
The county wide strategy can be found at Appendix C and the current South Holland
District Council Anti-Social Behaviour Policy can be found at Appendix D

1.4

An internal working group has been set up to consult, develop and review internal
procedures to inform updates to the Anti-Social Behaviour Policy.

1.5

Relevant officers have received countywide training. Further training and awareness raising
sessions are being arranged which will include members and staff whether or not directly
using the powers.

Page 13

1.6

Current delegations need to be updated to allow the Council to use the new enforcement
powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Option 1 - Approval of delegations in Appendix A which will allow the Council to use the
new tools and powers appropriately.

2.2

Option 2 - Do Nothing. The Council would not be meeting its statutory duties.

2.3

Option 3 – Approve some but not all of the proposed delegations

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1

To enable the Council to manage Anti-Social Behaviour cases effectively utilising the
powers available to the Council under the new legislation.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The expected benefits are as follows: -

Officers will be clear on which tools and powers are available to them.

-

Cases will be dealt with effectively and in line with the revised legislation.

-

Public and Partner expectations will be managed.

-

Victims of Anti-Social behaviour will be supported when issues are resolved through
using the powers.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.1

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 received Royal Assent on 13
March 2014. The Act has amended much of the legislation currently in use by local
authorities for dealing with anti-social behaviour. The majority of the new legislation came
into force on 20 October 2014.

5.2.2

The powers that have currently been enacted that are relevant to the Council are; Criminal
Behaviour Orders, Community Protection Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, Closure
Powers, Recovery of Possession of a dwelling.

5.2.3

Legal advice was sought in relation to the delegations in Appendix A to ensure that they
were in line with the legislation.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

Briefing on the new tools and powers will be offered to Compass Point Business Services
customer service staff.

Page 14

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

The delegations and the use of the powers contribute towards the Council's new corporate
priority; 'To develop safer, stronger and more independent communities whilst protecting
the most vulnerable'.

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

The delegation will allow the Council to effectively support victims of anti-social behaviour,
and reduce crime and disorder.

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

The Council is subject to the public sector equality duty under s149 of the Equality Act
2010. The Council is also subject to the European Convention on Human Rights and the
various rights contained therein (examples being a fair trial, privacy, non-discrimination and
enjoyment of possessions). The delegated powers set out in Appendix A to this report will
be exercised in accordance with those duties.

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

The delegation will allow the Council to effectively support victims of anti-social behaviour
which directly impacts on their health and wellbeing.

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

There is a potential risk of challenge should the Council not have the correct delegations in
place.

5.9.2

Should the delegations not be agreed there would be a practical delay in their
implementation by officers.

5.9.3

Should the delegations not be in place and correct the Council could be legally challenged
when trying to implement the legislation

5.9.4

There would be a potential risk to the Council’s reputation if delegations are not in place
and correct.

5.9.5

There would be a risk to vulnerable victims should delegations not be in place to allow
appropriate and timely action to be taken.

5.10

Staffing

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
5.11

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.11.1 Consultation with practitioners and service managers took place on the level of delegations
as part of the working group to inform Appendix A.

Page 15

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards and communities would be affected.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

None used.

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Dee Bedford, Anti-Social Behaviour Officer
01775 764457
dee.bedford@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Yes

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Appendix B
Appendix C
Appendix D

New delegations and amendments to existing delegations
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy, Lincolnshire Community Safety
Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures

Page 16

Appendix B
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
The Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 has introduced simpler, more
effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour that provide better protection for victims
and act a real deterrent to perpetrators. It also introduces measures that give victims a say
in the way their anti-social behaviour complaints are dealt with.
Under the Act, 19 existing tools and powers to deal with anti-social behaviour have been
reduced to 6.
New Powers


Civil Injunction – This will replace the Anti-Social Behaviour Order (ASBO), Anti-Social
Behaviour Injunctions, Drinking Banning Orders, Intervention Orders and Individual
Support Orders. It can be used to stop or prevent individuals engaging in anti-social
behaviour quickly, before problems escalate. A Civil Injunction could be used to deal
with drug or alcohol related anti-social behaviour, harassment, aggressive begging
etc.



Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) – This will replace the Anti-Social Behaviour Order
on conviction and Drink Banning Orders. It can be used to tackle the most
persistently anti-social individuals who are also engaging in criminal activity. A
Criminal Behaviour Order can be used to deal with anti-social behaviour related to a
hate crime, harassment, rowdy behaviour etc.



Community Protection Notice (CPN) – This will replace Litter Abatement Notices,
Litter Clearing Notices, Street Litter Clearing Notices, Graffiti and defacement
notices. It can be used to stop persistently anti-social individuals, businesses or
organisations and can include requirements to stop or do things or take steps to
avoid further anti-social behaviour. A Community Protection Notice could be used to
tackle noise disturbance, littering etc.



Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) – This will replace Dog Control Orders, Gating
Orders and Designated Public Place Orders. It is designed to protect public spaces
from persistently anti-social individuals or groups and can include reasonable
restrictions and/or requirements. It can be used to deal with street drinking, dog
fouling, flytipping, vehicle nuisance etc.



Closure Powers – These will replace Drugs Closure Orders, Closure of Premises
Associated with Persistent Disorder or Nuisance, Noisy Premises Closure Orders and
powers relating to licenced premises. It allows agencies to prohibit access to
premises that are being used, or are likely to be used to commit nuisance or
disorder. A closure notice can be issued out of court, prohibiting access for up to 48
hours. Whenever a closure notice is issued an application can be made to a
magistrates’ court for a closure order, prohibiting access for up to 6 months. Closure
Powers could be used to deal with premises where anti-social behaviour is causing

Page 21

Appendix B
nuisance or disorder, such as a noisy premise, environmental pollution, drug or
alcohol related anti-social behaviour etc.


Dispersal Powers – This is a power for the Police and it allows them to direct a
person to leave a specific location for up to 48 hours if authorised by a police
inspector or above. Dispersal Powers could be used to tackle alcohol or drug related
anti-social behaviour, lighting fires or illegal raves etc.

There is also some new legislation for the Absolute Grounds for Possession enabling social
landlords (Council and Housing Associations) and private landlords to evict the most antisocial tenants.
To enable local involvement and accountability, the 2014 Act also includes the following two
measures:


The Community Trigger – this enables victims, or someone acting on their behalf,
businesses or community groups to request a review if they are unhappy with the
response to their complaints and they meet the locally defined threshold.



The Community Remedy – when dealing with anti-social behaviour or low level
crime out-of-court the victim can help determine the punishment by choosing from a
list of options in the community remedy document.

Page 22

Appendix C

Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership

Page 23

CONTENTS
1. Statement of Purpose

2

2. Introduction

2

What is anti-social behaviour?
National Context
Local Context

3
4
5

3. Aims and Objectives

6

4. Our Approach

7

Working in partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour case management
Vulnerable victims
Repeat victims
Hot-spot locations
Hate Crime
Understanding the needs of our communities
5. Our Response
Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference
(ASBRAC)
Supporting victims and witnesses
Perpetrators of Anti-Social Behaviour
Remedies for Anti-Social Behaviour
Prevention and Early Intervention
Intervention – An Incremental Approach
Further Intervention Methods

7
7
8
8
8
9
9
9
11
11
11
12
14
15
19

6. Performance Management

21

7. Monitoring/Review

22

Appendix 1: Anti-Social Behaviour Delivery Plan 2015-18

1
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 24
Version 1 – March 2015

1. Statement of Purpose
This strategy sets out how agencies in Lincolnshire will work together to
effectively manage and resolve reports of anti-social behaviour; building upon the
excellent partnership work already operating across the county and ensuring
together we continue efforts to reduce anti-social behaviour and provide every
member of the community with the highest possible standard of service.
As a partnership we do not underestimate the impact anti-social behaviour
have on the lives of individuals and communities. The primary focus of
strategy is to put the needs of victims first; to provide effective support
ensure processes are in place to protect them from further harm. Key to
approach is the identification of repeat and vulnerable victims.

can
our
and
this

We also recognise the importance in effectively tackling perpetrators of antisocial behaviour and the benefits of early intervention methods to achieve longterm sustainable outcomes.
This strategy does not sit in isolation but is intended to run alongside existing
anti-social behaviour policies as a framework of activity adopted by agencies in
Lincolnshire as an overarching approach to tackling anti-social behaviour.
2. Introduction
The Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership is a strategic multi-agency group
set up to tackle countywide community safety issues. It is made up of both
statutory and non-statutory organisations such as the Police, County Council,
District Councils, Fire and Rescue, Probation Trust, Clinical Commissioning
Group and the Youth Offending Service. Collectively they are required to identify
community safety priorities and develop strategies to deal with them effectively.
Each priority area is supported by a Strategic Management Board, which is
responsible for delivering all actions set within their delivery plan.
The Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership recognises the huge effect antisocial behaviour has on victims and communities and has therefore made it one
of their key priorities.
The Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board is made up of the
following agencies:
2
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 25
Version 1 – March 2015

Lincolnshire County Council Safer Communities
Lincolnshire Police
Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue
Lincolnshire Youth Offending Service
Lincolnshire County Council Families Working Together
Humberside, Lincolnshire and North Yorkshire Community Rehabilitation
Company (Provider of Probation Services)
West Lindsey District Council
East Lindsey District Council
City of Lincoln Council
North Kesteven District Council
South Kesteven District Council
Boston Borough Council
South Holland District Council
Longhurst and Havlock Homes
Waterloo Housing
Boston Mayflower
ACIS Group Ltd
This strategy is intended to support the actions outlined in the Anti-Social
Behaviour Delivery Plan (see Appendix 1). All activity in relation to this document
will be led by the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board and
overseen by the Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership. Any agency that
fails to engage will be held to account by the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic
Management Board and if not resolved will be taken to the Lincolnshire
Community Safety Partnership.
What is Anti-Social Behaviour?
‘Anti-social behaviour’ is the broad term used to describe a range of nuisances,
disorder and crime that affect people’s daily lives. It covers many types of
behaviour that vary in nature and severity, many of which are open to
interpretation. Thus what is considered anti-social by one person can be
acceptable to another.
Issues that could constitute as anti-social behaviour include (this is by no means
an exhaustive list);
3
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 26
Version 1 – March 2015

• Noise nuisance
• Intimidation and/or threatening behaviour
• Littering or Fly-tipping
• Vandalism, graffiti and other deliberate damage to property or vehicles
• Using or dealing drugs
• Street drinking
• Rowdy behaviour in public
• Abandoned or burnt out cars
• Neighbour disputes
There is no single definition of anti-social behaviour but instead a series of
different definitions for different purposes; introduced through the Anti-social
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. These definitions encompass a variety
of behaviours covering a whole complex of activities which may be unacceptable
in different contexts.
Agencies (Police, Local Authorities and Registered Providers) will use these
definitions to determine whether anti-social behaviour has occurred and if so,
take the necessary action.
We acknowledge that anti-social behaviour does not exclude other criminal
offences and understand that any act of anti-social behaviour associated with a
crime will be dealt with accordingly; incorporating the required criminal sanctions
into the intervention process.
National Context
This strategy has been developed in response to the government’s White Paper:
Putting Victims First: More Effective Responses to Anti-Social Behaviour
(published in May 2012) and the subsequent Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act 2014.
The White Paper highlighted the failure of systems to adequately deal with
complaints of anti-social behaviour and emphasised the need to protect the most
vulnerable in society. It proposed a series of reforms to improve how agencies
tackle anti-social behaviour; focusing on the needs of victims and introducing
new legislation to allow professionals to take swift, effective action against
perpetrators.
4
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 27
Version 1 – March 2015

Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014
The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 contains various
measures to protect the public from anti-social behaviour, dangerous dogs,
forced marriage, sexual harm and illegal firearms used by gangs and in
organised crime. It also includes changes to improve the provision of services for
victims and witnesses.
The key provisions to tackle anti-social behaviour include:
 Simpler, more effective powers to tackle anti-social behaviour that provide
better protection for victims and communities.
 Replace 19 powers to deal with anti-social behaviour with 6 broader
powers, intended to streamline procedures to allow for a quicker response.
 Introduces the Community Trigger and Community Remedy to give victims
and communities a greater say in how agencies respond to their complaint
and in the punishment of offenders out of court.
 Gives landlords power to swiftly evict anti-social tenants.
To demonstrate our commitment to tackling anti-social behaviour and to ensure
the measures introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act
2014 are used effectively throughout Lincolnshire, the Anti-Social Behaviour
Strategic Management Board have developed countywide procedures for each of
the new powers and tools, which have been adopted by all members.
Local Context
Current analysis of anti-social behaviour in Lincolnshire is conducted using data
recorded by the Police on reported incidents of anti-social behaviour. We
acknowledge that anti-social behaviour is reported to a number of agencies and
organisations, however at present there is no consistent approach to the storing
and sharing of information in order to include all data within our analysis. As a
result there are areas of under reporting, particularly in those categories which
affect households or the environment when the victim is more likely to report the
incident to the Local Authority or Registered Providers.
Since April 2011 Lincolnshire Police have seen a continued overall reduction in
incidents of anti-social behaviour. Latest figures for 2013/14 show that antibehaviour reduced by 12.1% that is 2990 fewer incidents compared to the
5
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 28
Version 1 – March 2015

previous year. Analysis of this sustained decrease has revealed a correlation
between improved partnership processes for tackling anti-social behaviour
(especially in the area of case management) and the reduction in incidents.
Although this presents a positive picture for Lincolnshire we are not complacent
and understand the challenges ahead to sustain this trend. Key to our continued
success lies within this strategy and the effective delivery of actions set within our
delivery plan.
Links with other relevant strategies and initiatives
This strategy links with a number of existing countywide strategies, policies and
initiatives that contribute to tackling anti-social behaviour. These include:
Police and Crime Plan for Lincolnshire
Community Safety Partnership Plans
Lincolnshire Families Working Together Project
Lincolnshire Restorative Justice Programme
Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Lincolnshire Domestic Abuse Strategy
Lincolnshire Hate Crime Strategy
Lincolnshire Adult Safeguarding Multi-Agency Policy and Procedures
Lincolnshire Children’s Safeguarding Policy
Lincolnshire County Council Public Protection Strategy
3. Aims and Objectives
Aims
We aim to reduce instances of anti-social behaviour and the numbers of people
who are involved in or at risk from anti-social behaviour (both victims and
perpetrators). Where anti-social behaviour does occur, we are committed to
putting the victim first, particularly if they are vulnerable or a repeat victim.
Objectives



Deliver a consistent response to anti-social behaviour across Lincolnshire,
irrespective of location or service provider.
Provide improved service and protection to the public through the use of swift
efficient processes.

6
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 29
Version 1 – March 2015








Manage reports of anti-social behaviour more effectively across partners in
Lincolnshire.
Improve the experience for victims and witnesses of anti-social behaviour
through better engagement and understanding.
Identify repeat and vulnerable victims effectively and respond more efficiently.
Identify repeat perpetrators of anti-social behaviour and explore opportunities
to implement interventions to reduce their negative impact on communities.
Tackle problem locations where anti-social behaviour is occurring.
Facilitate effective information sharing including the use of a shared IT system
to allow for a more joined up approach in managing high risk cases.

4. Our Approach
Working in partnership
We know that anti-social behaviour cannot be tackled by one agency alone and
that to provide an effective response we must work together. Working in
partnership is key to our approach and by doing so allows us to:





Share appropriate information to identify anti-social behaviour trends and
deliver proactive targeted responses.
Improve co-ordination across agencies to support and protect victims of antisocial behaviour, particularly the most vulnerable.
Increase and improve the sharing of good practice, skills, and experience
across the county amongst both statutory and non-statutory agencies.
Train staff to effectively deal with reports of anti-social behaviour; utilising all
the powers and tools available to them.

Anti-Social Behaviour case management
To support our partnership response to anti-social behaviour partners (Police and
Local Authorities) have jointly purchased a multi-agency case management
system, which can also be accessed by four of the counties main Registered
Providers and Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. It is predominately used to manage
and co-ordinate all activity in response to high risk cases of anti-social behaviour
e.g. repeat/vulnerable victims, persistent perpetrators and hotspot locations,
however most Local Authorities now use it to record all complaints of anti-social
behaviour. An Information Sharing Agreement is in place to allow users to view
7
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 30
Version 1 – March 2015

the collective information that has been input by the different agencies and by
doing so tackle anti-social behaviour more efficiently.
To ensure the effective and consistent identification of vulnerable and
repeat victims and ‘hot spot’ locations the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic
Management Board has agreed the following definitions.

Vulnerable victims
‘A vulnerable victim is a person whose experience and/or effect of harm as a
result of an incident is likely to be more significant because of their individual
personal circumstances’.
This definition of vulnerability puts the emphasis on how the complainant is
effected by a particular problem to determine risk, rather than assuming personal
demographics automatically place them in the vulnerable or high risk category.
Although we must consider the nine protected characteristic of the Equality Act
2010 (age, disability, marital status, gender assignment, pregnancy and
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation) it is the impact the
anti-social behaviour is having on the individual or community that is important
when identifying vulnerable victims of anti-social behaviour.
Repeat victims
‘Repeat victimisations occurs when a person is subjected to three incidents of
anti-social behaviour within a rolling 12 month period’
It is widely recognised that victims rarely report their first experiences of antisocial behaviour, often waiting until it begins to impact upon their life. This
definition, therefore, includes both reported and unreported incidents of antisocial behaviour within the 12 month time frame. It is the agencies responsibility
to establish whether any previous incidents have occurred and consider this in
their response.
‘Hot spot’ locations

8
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 31
Version 1 – March 2015

‘A ‘hot spot’ location is an area where 3 or more incidents of anti-social behaviour
have occurred in the same locality within a one month period, reported by more
than one person’.
‘Hot spots’ locations tend to be those areas most accessible to the public, for
example shopping precincts, children’s play parks, or public car parks, and can
even expand to cover entire housing estates. They often involve multiple
offenders and more than one victim, resulting in a wider impact on the
community.
Partners will work together to identify and tackle area ‘hot spots’; considering the
needs of the community as a whole, as well as individual victims affected.
Hate Crime
This strategy is underpinned by a commitment to provide equality of access to
services and support to every member of our communities; regardless of – age,
disability, marital status, gender assignment, pregnancy and maternity, race,
religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. It is widely understood that those most
vulnerable in our society, or those from diverse backgrounds are proportionally
more likely to become victims of anti-social behaviour or hate crime. Incidents of
hate crime often manifest themselves in low level forms of anti-social behaviour,
which on the surface may appear minor but the impact on the victim and their
family can be devastating if not dealt with quickly and effectively. This was clearly
highlighted in the case of Fiona Pilkington who killed herself and her disabled
daughter, Francesca Hardwick, after suffering years of anti-social behaviour and
hate crime. In recognition of this, this strategy has been integrated with the
Lincolnshire Hate Crime Strategy and the priorities set within it.
Understanding the Needs of Our Communities
We recognise that understanding communities and underlying tensions is key to
responding effectively. It is therefore important that we listen to our communities
and ensure they are included in the decisions making process. It has also been
found that by involving the public in crime prevention work generates ownership
and encourages residents to take responsibility for their own problems and
improve their capacity for self-help, subsequently resulting in long-term
sustainable outcomes (Liddle & Gelsthorpe 1994; Thomas 1999).
5. Our Response
9
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 32
Version 1 – March 2015

It is important to record anti-social behaviour based on the perception of the
complainant. If the complainant believes their report is anti-social behaviour it
should be recorded and investigated as such. The investigation may conclude
that it is not anti-social behaviour but the complainant’s initial perception is
paramount. It is also essential to identify repeat or vulnerable victims at the
earliest opportunity to protect them from further harm.
This strategy lays out the appropriate initial response in respect of recording, risk
assessing and managing complaints of anti-social behaviour. Partners agree that
they will respond to reports based on their assessment of risk; prioritising incidents
based on the levels of harm and risk to those affected, rather than selectively attending or
categorising incidents. The police will always tackle issues of crime that may be a
symptom of anti-social behaviour but will do so in partnership with other agencies
to ensure all action is being taken to address the problem.
Consideration should also be given to any possible mental health or learning
disability when responding to incidents of anti-social behaviour. If it is believed
that the victim or perpetrator have a mental illness or learning disability efforts
must be made to establish whether the person is subject to mental health
services or adult social care and ensure appropriate information is shared with
the agency.
When a complaint of anti-social behaviour is received the following principles will
be employed:








Record the complaint.
Treat the complaint seriously and act professionally.
Conduct an initial dynamic risk assessment to establish the required response
based on threat, risk and harm.
Cross reference previous complaints relating to the victim, perpetrator or
location and use this information to tailor the response.
Ensure all victims identified as vulnerable and/or repeat are managed
appropriately (in line with each agencies internal policies and procedures) and
additional specialist support services are offered, if required.
Victims identified as high risk will be referred (with their consent) to the AntiSocial Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference (ASBRAC) for multi-agency
intervention and support.
10

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 33
Version 1 – March 2015





Agree an action plan with the victim, outlining how they aim to investigate and
resolve their complaint.
Provide the victim with a reference number (if possible) and a point of contact.
Keep the victim up to date with the progress of their case and give regular
feedback.

Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference (ASBRAC)
The Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference is a process that brings
local agencies together to manage high risk victims, perpetrators or locations of
anti-social behaviour. It provides a structured meeting to share information and
consider and implement the required actions to reduce the risk of harm, using a
multi-agency approach.
For further information please refer to the Lincolnshire ASBRAC Guidance and
Operating Procedures.
Supporting victims and witnesses
We understand that vulnerable victims can often have complex needs and
therefore require specialist support, beyond the practical and emotional support
provided by anti-social behaviour professionals. In response Lincolnshire County
Council Safer Communities has commissioned VoiceAbility to deliver a
vulnerable victim support service, specifically for victims of anti-social behaviour.
VoiceAbility support complainants of anti-social behaviour who are recognised as
having additional vulnerabilities, beyond the anti-social behaviour itself.
Vulnerability can be presented in various forms, from mental illness or learning
difficulties, to social isolation or loneliness and can often increase the impact
caused by anti-social behaviour. Advocates work with victims to understand and
address their needs, providing support to help them manage their situation more
effectively.
When action is taken to tackle an anti-social behaviour problem, whether informal
or formal, we recognise the importance in ensuring that anyone experiencing
anti-social behaviour, whether a victim or witness, is supported and kept
informed. We also understand that the responsibility to support victims and
11
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 34
Version 1 – March 2015

witnesses does not end after the completion of court proceedings and we are
committed to providing support for as long as required, whether it be directly or
through other agencies.
Perpetrators of Anti- Social Behaviour
A proportionate response is always important in tackling anti-social behaviour.
Our strategy emphasises the use of preventative programmes and early
intervention methods as an initial response (in most cases) to not only address
the behaviour but also the causes behind it. It is understood, however, that such
action is not always appropriate and immediate enforcement may be required.
Action taken to deal with perpetrators of anti-social behaviour will be aimed at
achieving long-term solutions that reduce the impact on victims and enhance the
opportunity for perpetrators to migrate towards a positive contribution within their
community.
This will be done by:












Considering all aggravating and mitigating factors, including the view of
victims.
Assessing each case individually to determine the most appropriate action.
Refer persistent perpetrators to the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment
Conference (ASBRAC) for multi-agency intervention.
Considering the use of Restorative Justice to enable perpetrators of antisocial behaviour to recognise the consequences of their behaviour and in
doing so aim to change their behaviour.
Work closely with parents and the Youth Offending Services to ensure young
perpetrators of anti-social behaviour receive appropriate interventions and
support.
Utilise support services such as Families Working Together to tackle the
underlying causes of a perpetrators anti-social behaviour, considering the
needs of the whole family not just the individual involved.
Use the full range of legislative powers where appropriate to resolve the most
serious cases of anti-social behaviour.
Use education through schools as a primary method of preventing young
people from committing or becoming victims of anti-social behaviour.

Remedies for Anti-Social Behaviour
12
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 35
Version 1 – March 2015

Mediation
In certain cases of anti-social behaviour, in particular neighbour disputes,
mediation can be a useful approach to resolving the issue. Mediation empowers
people to work together to resolve their problems. Solutions are offered by the
parties themselves, enabling them to remain in control of any outcomes. While
agreements made are not legally binding, parties are more likely to adhere to
them because they have created them themselves. Mediation should not be
regarded as a last resort when all else has failed, and should be used at the
earliest opportunity.
Lincolnshire County Council Safer Communities have commissioned an
independent mediation service, which is available to the Police, Local Authorities
and Registered Providers, to specifically assist with neighbour disputes. Where
there is a case that could possibly be resolved through mediation, the agency will
speak with both parties to obtain their agreement and submit a referral to the
mediators.
Restorative Justice
We are committed to using innovative and creative solutions to tackle anti-social
behaviour and promote the use of Restorative Justice as an out of court method
to resolving complaints of anti-social behaviour.
‘Restorative processes bring those harmed by crime or anti-social behaviour, and
those responsible for the harm, into communication, enabling everyone affected
by a particular incident to play a part in repairing the harm and finding a positive
way forward’ (as defined by the Restorative Justice Council)
Importantly, it also enables offenders to face the consequences of their actions
and make amends; which has shown to be effective in motivating change and
stopping future offending.
There are two Restorative Justice Services available in Lincolnshire, which are
delivered by Lincolnshire Police; Restorative Community Resolution and
Restorative Justice Conferencing. Although the principles are the same with both
methods, a Restorative Resolution allows officers to deliver Restorative Justice
immediately in response to incident (with the willing participation of both the
victim and perpetrator). Whilst a Conference is a more structured process that
13
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 36
Version 1 – March 2015

can involve the victim, perpetrator, community members or criminal justice
agencies, which is led by a trained facilitator whose role is to help those involved
understand how others have been affected and find a resolution.
It is important, when using Restorative Justice that it is formally recorded (in
accordance with Lincolnshire Restorative Justice Guidance) and the relevant
partner agencies are informed.
Emphasis on Restorative Justice, particularly in response to anti-social
behaviour, continues to grow and is strongly advocated within the Anti-Social
Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 through the introduction of the
Community Remedy (a document that sets out a list of activities considered
suitable when delivering a Restorative Resolution). It is the responsibility of the
Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) to produce the document and in doing so
must consider the views of the public and the agencies delivering Restorative
Resolutions (e.g. Police and Local Authorities). The Lincolnshire Community
Safety Partnership and Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board are
supporting the PCC to ensure the Community Remedy is implemented effectively
and incorporated into current practice.
Prevention and Early Intervention
Often there may be significant underlying problems which contribute to a
person’s engagement in anti-social behaviour, such as abuse or neglect at home,
alcohol and drug misuse or physical and mental health problems. Supporting
perpetrators to identify and resolve their problems is key to helping them improve
and change behaviour and must therefore form part of our response (alongside
formal intervention measures, if necessary).
There are a range of services available in Lincolnshire that can be used to assist
in tackling anti-social behaviour, however there are two in particular that have
proven very successful; the Youth Offending Service Prevention and Early
Intervention Programme and the Families Working Together project.
Youth Offending Service Prevention and Early Intervention Programme
Prevention and Early Intervention is available to young people aged 8 to 17 who
are at risk of being involved in crime and anti-social behaviour. They offer a
variety of programmes catered towards addressing various needs, including
social skills, anger management, peer pressure, victim awareness, substance
14
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 37
Version 1 – March 2015

misuse and unacceptable behaviour. They also provide parenting support and
can refer to other professionals for specific help outside of their expertise.
Families Working Together Project
The aim of the project is to use a multi-agency approach to addressing family
problems, which may be the root cause of offending behaviour. This is done
through a dedicated Key Worker that works intensively with the family to help
draw up an action plan that tackles the family’s problems as a whole using a
range of specialist services. Plans will include a number of incentives to reward
positive behaviour along with sanctions to discourage deviation.
Clear referral pathways for both services have been established in Lincolnshire
allowing for effective multi-agency intervention that provides long-term
sustainable solutions.
Intervention - An Incremental Approach
The Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board support an incremental
approach to tackling perpetrators of anti-social behaviour. While this method is
usually appropriate, we understand that there will be occasions when, in order to
deal swiftly and effectively with anti-social behaviour to provide immediate
protection to individuals and the community, it is not practical to follow each stage
consecutively.
The stages outlined below are not fixed and may vary slightly between
organisations.
Stage One: Verbal Warning
A verbal warning is often used as an immediate response to an incident of antisocial behaviour when the perpetrator is found to have no previous involvement
in such activity. In issuing a verbal warning it should be made clear to the
individual what behaviour is causing the issue; what effect it is having on the
victim or community and the consequences should the behaviour continue.
This face to face contact with the perpetrator also provides an early opportunity
to identify any contributing factors, such as substance misuse, mental health

15
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 38
Version 1 – March 2015

problem or learning disability, and provide the necessary intervention by means
of a referral to the required agency for additional support.
Each agency needs to ensure that it keeps a record of when a verbal warning is
given and should sharing such information with relevant partners.
Stage Two: Advice letters
Advice letters are used to alert a person that their behaviour is of concern and
request that it stops. It is a particularly useful tool to inform parents/guardians that
their child has been identified as being involved in anti-social behaviour and
provide details of the circumstances surrounding the incident.
Stage Three: Unacceptable Behaviour Warning
An unacceptable behaviour warning contains specific details about what
behaviour has occurred and why it is not acceptable, including the impact on any
victims or local community. It also stresses the seriousness of the matter and
details what further action will be taken should the person continue to engage in
such behaviour. Local agencies should alert each other that the warning has
been given so that it can be effectively monitored.
Best practice has found that when a warning is issued in person, the impact on
the perpetrator is more significant. Furthermore, it also allows for discussion
between the issuing officer, the perpetrator and their parent/guardian (if
necessary). Although partners will endeavour to follow this approach it is
understood that it is not always possible.
Stage Four: Acceptable Behaviour Contract (ABC)
An ABC is a voluntary agreement between the person involved in anti-social
behaviour and the organisation e.g. Local Authority/Registered Provider or
Police.
A Local Authority or Registered Provider (often in company with a local Police
Officer or Police Community Support Officer) will visit the subject in person to
negotiate and agree the terms of the contract. It will contain a list of anti-social
acts that they will agree not to continue to do.
16
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 39
Version 1 – March 2015

The contract may also contain offers of support to address any underlying causes
of their behaviour, such as a referral to Families Working Together or the Youth
Offending Service Prevention and Intervention Programme. A contract can be
reviewed and altered at the discretion and agreement of all the agencies
involved. An ABC is not legally binding but can be used as evidence to support
enforcement action, for example an application for a Civil Injunction or Criminal
Behaviour Order.
Stage Five: Enforcement
There are a range of civil and criminal sanctions available to different
organisations to effectively deal with perpetrators of anti-social behaviour. By
working together agencies in Lincolnshire can access an array of measures,
beyond the capability of their individual organisations, and choose the most
appropriate action specific to each case. Some of the powers and tools available
include:
Civil Injunction

The Police, Local Authority or Registered Provider can
apply for a Civil Injunction as a means to deal with antisocial individuals. The Injunction can offer fast and
effective protection for victims and communities and set a
clear standard of behaviour for perpetrators. It can also
provide a sanction if an Acceptable Behaviour Contract is
breached. There are two tests for a Civil Injunction;
housing related and non-housing related. The use of
either test will depend on the applicant and circumstances
in which the anti-social behaviour has occurred.
If an application for Civil Injunction is against someone
under the age of 18 the applicant must consult the local
youth offending team (YOT) before proceeding.

Criminal Behaviour

A Civil Injunction can prohibit a perpetrator from carrying
out specific anti-social acts or from entering defined areas
and can also require the individual to engage in specified
positive activities, aimed at addressing the root causes of
their anti-social behaviour. Breach is not a criminal
offence and is dealt with by as contempt of court.
A Criminal Behaviour Order can be applied for by either
17

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 40
Version 1 – March 2015

Order (CBO)

the Crown Prosecution Service or Local Authority when a
person has been convicted of any criminal offence. The
order is aimed at tackling the most serious and persistent
offenders where their behaviour has brought them to a
criminal court. The court will not consider an application
for a Criminal Behaviour Order at a hearing after the
perpetrator has been sentenced therefore it is important
agencies inform partners when they are aware a
perpetrator of anti-social behaviour is being brought to a
criminal court to ensure a Criminal Behaviour Order can
be considered.
If the offender is under 18 years of age the prosecution
must find out the views of the local youth offending team
(YOT) before applying for a Criminal Behaviour Order.

Community
Protection Notice
(CPN)

Public Space
Protection Order
(PSPO)

Like a Civil Injunction the Criminal Behaviour Order can
include both prohibitions and positive requirements.
Breach (of either a prohibition or requirement) is a
criminal offence.
A Community Protection Notice is intended to deal with
unreasonable, ongoing problems or nuisances that are
detrimental to the local community’s quality of life. A
Notice can be issued by the Local Authority or Police
(following a written warning) to anyone over 16 or
business/organisation and can require the subject to stop
doing specific things, do specific things and/or take
reasonable steps to prevent reoccurrence. Breach of a
Community Protection Notice is a criminal offence
punishable by a fine.
Public Space Protection Orders are only available to
Local Authorities, however often form part of a wider
problem solving plan with Police and other agencies.
They impose conditions on the use of an area in order to
address a particular nuisance or problem that is, or might
become, detrimental to the local communities quality of
life. They are designed to ensure the law-abiding majority
can use and enjoy public spaces safe from anti-social
behaviour. Breach of the order, without reasonable
18

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 41
Version 1 – March 2015

Closure Power

Dispersal Power

excuse, is a criminal offence punishable by a fine.
The Closure Power is a two stage process that allows
Local Authorities or Police to close a premises. The first
stage is the serving of a Closure Notice if the use of the
premises has resulted in or is likely to result in serious
nuisance to members of the public. This notice can last
for 48 hours and once served, any person apart from
those with a legal right to occupy the property must leave
or they will be committing a criminal offence. Unless the
notice is cancelled, the case is then referred to the
Magistrates Court to consider whether a Closure Order
should be made. The Order prevents any person from
entering the property (including the owner/occupier) and
can lasts for up to 6 months. Breach of a Closure Notice
or Order is a criminal offence and could result in a fine or
imprisonment.
This is a Police power to disperse people causing
harassment, alarm or distress. It allowing officers to direct
a person who has committed, or is likely to commit, antisocial behaviour to leave an area and not return for up to
48 hours. The Dispersal Power is a flexible power which
the police can use in a range of situations to disperse
anti-social individuals and provide immediate short term
respite to a local community. Failure to comply with a
direction to leave is a criminal offence punishable by fine
or imprisonment.

Further Intervention Methods
Local Authority Housing Departments and Registered Providers have a range of
powers and tools available to them to effectively tackle anti-social behaviour in
relation to their tenants. This includes:
Introductory
Tenancies

Introductory and starter tenancies provide landlords
(Local Authorities and Registered Providers) with greater
flexibility to offer new tenants an appropriate level of
security during the early stages of their tenancy, which
will later be enhanced if the tenant has not in the
meantime breached the terms of the agreement. Tenants
19

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 42
Version 1 – March 2015

Demotion Orders

Absolute Grounds
for Possession

must satisfy the landlord that they are able to abide by all
conditions of tenancy, including those regarding
acceptable standards of behaviour. Both introductory and
starter tenancies enable a landlord to gain possession of
a property more easily against tenants who behave antisocially. These tenancies can only be granted where a
Local Lettings Policy exists, for example; in an area with
high crime or anti-social behaviour and must be agreed
by the local District Council. These can cover a street, a
block of flats right up to a whole estate. These tenancies
are for a fixed period of 12 months but can be extended
for a further 6 months.
Local Authorities and Registered Providers have the
power to apply for a demotion order on secure tenancies,
where tenants or other residents of a dwelling, or visitors
to a tenant’s home, have behaved in a way that is
capable of causing nuisance and annoyance, or where
such a person has used the premises for illegal or
immoral purposes. A demotion order has the effect of
ending the existing tenancy and replacing it with a less
secure demoted tenancy and mandatory possession. This
removes the tenant’s Right to Buy (where it applies) and
their security of tenure for at least a year. These orders
can be extended for a further 6 months if necessary.
Landlords will be able to choose to use the Absolute
Ground for Possession, in addition to or instead of the
existing discretionary ground for anti-social behaviour,
where any of the following five conditions are met:





the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a
person visiting the property has been convicted of a
serious offence;
the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a
person visiting the property has been found by a court
to have breached a Civil Injunction;
the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a
person visiting the property has been convicted for
breaching a Criminal Behaviour Order;
the tenant’s property has been closed for more than
48 hours under a Closure Order for anti-social
behaviour; or
20

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 43
Version 1 – March 2015



Tenancy Injunction

the tenant, a member of the tenant’s household, or a
person visiting the property has been convicted for
breaching a Noise Abatement Notice or order.

Where a landlord applies for possession under the
absolute ground the court would have to grant an order
for
possession,
subject
to
considerations
of
proportionality (where the landlord is a public authority)
and the landlord having followed the correct procedure.
Local Authorities and Housing Providers can apply for an
Injunction against a tenant for any breach (or anticipated
breach) of their tenancy agreement. Failure to comply
could result in up to 2 years imprisonment.

6. Performance Management
The Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board is responsible for
monitoring performance at a countywide level. Our performance will be measured
through the anti-social behaviour delivery plan and reported to the Lincolnshire
Community Safety Partnership every quarter.
Community Trigger
The Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board will also use the
Community Trigger as an indicator of how well agencies are responding to
reports of anti-social behaviour and utilising a partnership approach. The
Community Trigger gives victims and communities the right to request a review of
their anti-social behaviour case. It is a problem solving process that aims to find
solutions for the victim as well as providing a mechanism for multi-agency
accountability, which cannot be achieved through a single agency complaints
procedure. Delivery of this strategy should ensure that Lincolnshire’s
communities are satisfied with the response they receive to a reported anti-social
behaviour issue. However, if a Community Trigger does occur we need to ensure
valuable lessons are learnt and acted upon to prevent reoccurrence.
An application for Community Tigger in Lincolnshire will be judged as met if:
The application for a review is received within 6 months of the last report of ASB
and
21
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 44
Version 1 – March 2015

The victim has reported the same problem 3 or more times in the past 6
months to the Council, Police or their landlord
OR
Different victims have made reports about the same problem 3 or more times in
the past 6 months to the Council, Police or their landlord
If a Community Trigger request does not meet the threshold, it may be decided to
carry out a review due to:
 The persistence of the anti-social behaviour
 The harm or potential harm caused by the anti-social behaviour
 The adequacy of the response from agencies
7. Monitoring/Review
This Strategy will be monitored by the Anti-Social Strategic Management Board
and reviewed annually by the Anti-Social Behaviour County Co-ordinator.

22
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Anti-Social Behaviour Strategy
Page 45
Version 1 – March 2015

Appendix C

Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership
Community Safety Agreement
Appendix 1 - Anti-Social Behaviour Delivery Plan 2015-18

Page 46

Contents
Introduction…………….…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..2
Summary of Strategy……..……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..3
Overarching Outcome ................................................................................................................................................5
Sub Outcomes (inc. measures and key tasks ) ………………………………………………………………………………………………………5
Resources ................................................................................................................................................................................13
Risks.........................................................................................................................................................................................13

Page 47
1

Introduction
This document supports the 2015-18 Community Safety Agreement for Lincolnshire. As reported in the Community
Safety Agreement, following the completion of a Strategic Assessment process and priority setting event, the Lincolnshire
Community Safety Partnership have agreed to focus on the following priorities:

Page 48








Anti-Social Behaviour and Hate Crime
Domestic Abuse
Reducing Offending
Serious and Organised Crime
Sexual Violence
Substance Misuse

In putting together this delivery plan, the Anti-Social Behaviour and Hate Crime Strategic Management Board have taken
in to account the findings and recommendations of the County Strategic Assessment and considered the following brief,
used by the Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership when determining the priorities:






Do we add value as a partnership?
Do we, together, make a difference?
Do we recognise and tackle the emerging?
Do we tackle 'cause' and prevent more?
Do we increase effectiveness and efficiency?

As such, the delivery plan does not capture existing activity but those tasks which will drive sustainable change for the
better in tackling anti-social behaviour for Lincolnshire.
This is a 'live' delivery plan and will be updated regularly by the Anti-Social Behaviour and Hate Crime Strategic
Management Board over the course of the 2015-18 period.

2

Summary of Strategy:
Year One
 Improve the case management of vulnerable and repeat victims of anti-social behaviour.
 Train frontline staff to better understand mental illness, disability and personality disorders.
 Ensure countywide procedures to tackle anti-social behaviour are being employed across all partner agencies.
 Understand the needs of perpetrators of anti-social behaviour.
 Identify anti-social behaviour priority locations.

Page 49

Year Two
 Understand the effectiveness of anti-social behaviour victim case management.
 Improved understanding, amongst professionals, on how to access mental health services and support in
Lincolnshire.
 Evaluate the use of the new powers and tools to tackle anti-social behaviour across Lincolnshire.
 Provide a tailored approach to perpetrators of anti-social behaviour, using all the support and enforcement tools
available to find the best solution.
 Deliver a targeted response to anti-social behaviour priority locations.
Year Three
 Deliver a robust, partnership response to vulnerable victims of anti-social behaviour.
 Provide a standardised approach for Police, Local Authorities and Registered Providers when dealing with antisocial behaviour cases with a mental health dimension.

3

Overarching Outcome: Lincolnshire experiences less anti-social behaviour
Indicator

Baseline
2014/15

Reduction in
Police recorded
ASB incidents

Direction of
Travel

Target
2015/16

Target
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Progress Update

TBC

Sub Outcomes:
1. Improved response to vulnerable victims of anti-social behaviour.
2. The use of the new powers and tools introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 are

Page 50

embedded within partner organisations.
3. Provide a balanced response to perpetrators of anti-social behaviour based around rehabilitation and enforcement.
4. Encourage a problem solving approach to identified locations affected by anti-social behaviour.

4

Outcome 1: Improve response to vulnerable victims of anti-social behaviour
Ref

Task

Year 1
1.0 Implement the Duplicate Names
function on Sentinel.
1.1
1.2

Page 51

1.3

1.4
1.5

1.6

Implement a solution to Complex
Triggers on Sentinel.
Partnership to review the use of
Sentinel prior to annual contract
renewal in September 2015.
Implement performance monitoring of
partnership case management activity
to share with the ASB SMB and ASB
Delivery Group.
Implement performance monitoring for
the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk
Assessment Conference (ASBRAC).
Establish a process to monitor and
evaluate the effectiveness of
VoiceAbility Anti-Social Behaviour
Advocacy Support Service, including
partnership referral rate.
Improve awareness for frontline staff to
better identify early signs of mental
illness, disability and personality
disorders.

Responsibility
Sentinel
Administrator/Configuration
Group
Sentinel
Administrator/Configuration
Group
ASB Delivery Group/ASB
SMB

Target Dates
Start
End
April
2015

May 2015

April
2015
April
2015

May 2015
September
2015

July
2015

January
2016

County ASB Co-ordinator

April
2015

July 2015

Safer Communities
Commissioning Team

July
2015

August
2015

County ASB Co-ordinator

May
2015

July 2015

Safer Communities
Commissioning Team

Progress Update

5

1.7

Page 52

Improve awareness for frontline staff to
better identify victims of domestic
abuse (linked to cases of anti-social
behaviour).
1.8 Establish a clear, simple referral route
into mental health services – via Single
Point of Access.
Year 2
2.0 Implement a vulnerable/repeat weekly
briefing process.
2.1 Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness
of ASBRAC to manage vulnerable
victims of anti-social behaviour.
Year 3
3.0 Monitor and evaluate Single Point of
Access into mental health services.

County ASB Coordinator/Natalie White

TBC

TBC

County ASB Co-ordinator

April
2015

March
2017

Safer Communities
Commissioning Team

June
2015

July 2015

County ASB Co-ordinator

April
2016

March
2017

LCSP

April
2017

March
2018

Target
2015/16

Target
2016/17

Measures:
Indicator
Proportion of
repeat victims
managed on
Sentinel
Proportion of open
cases on Sentinel
which contain
timely updates in
accordance with
the Standard

Baseline
2014/15

Direction of
Travel

Target
2017/18

Progress Update

TBC

TBC

6

Operating
Procedures
Proportion of open
cases on Sentinel
which contain a
risk assessment in
accordance with
the Standard
Operating
Procedures
Performance
monitoring of the
ASBRAC

TBC

TBC

Page 53
7

Outcome 2: The use of the new powers and tools introduced by the Anti-Social Behaviour,
Crime and Policing Act 2014 are embedded within partner organisations
Ref

Task

Year 1
1.0 Evaluate the use of the new powers and
tools to tackle anti-social behaviour.
1.1

Page 54

Review new countywide procedures to
ensure effective delivery of anti-social
behaviour enforcement.
1.2 Produce a public report outlining quarterly
review outcomes on the Community
Trigger.
1.3 Implement a process for Community
Remedy within the current Restorative
Justice framework and promote its use in
response to complaints of anti-social
behaviour.
1.4 Deliver effective communication at both
local and county level to ensure that
professionals and communities alike have
a better understanding of anti-social
behaviour and are aware of the action
that can be, or has been taken to address
it.
Year 2
2.0 Monitor and evaluate the use of the new

Responsibility
County ASB Coordinator/C/I Paul
Timmins
County ASB Coordinator
County ASB Coordinator
C/I Paul
Timmins/Restorative
Justice Co-ordinator

Kathryn Hearn
(WLDC)

Target Dates
Start
End
April 2015

September
2015

September
2015

November
2015

April 2015

March
2017

April 2015

September
2015

July 2015

TBC

Progress Update

C/I Paul

8

powers and tools across partners.
2.1

Establish performance monitoring for the
Community Remedy.

2.2

Explore the feasibility of aligning district
multi-agency meetings e.g. JAG, JAM,
ASBAG etc.
Year 3

Timmins/County ASB
Co-ordinator
C/I Paul
Timmins/Restorative
Justice Co-ordinator
County ASB Coordinator

April 2016

March
2017

April 2016

July 2016

April 2016

July 2016

Measures:
Page 55

Indicator
Performance
reporting on the
use of the new
powers and tools

Baseline
2014/15
TBC

Direction of
Travel
To ensure and
promote the
new powers
and tools are
being used by
partner
agencies.

Target
2015/16

Target
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Progress Update

9

Outcome 3: Provide a balanced response to perpetrators of anti-social behaviour based
around rehabilitation and enforcement
Ref

Task

Page 56

Year 1
1.0 Establish a process to monitor and
evaluate the effectiveness of the AntiSocial Behaviour Mediation Service,
including partnership referral rate.
1.1 Continue to promote Early Intervention
measures (e.g. Families Working
Together and Youth Offending Prevention
Programme) and share quarterly review
outcomes with the Anti-Social Behaviour
Delivery Group and Strategic
Management Board.
1.2 Develop and evaluate a pilot project on
the Youth Offending Service Mentoring
Scheme as an additional measure to
tackle young perpetrators of anti-social
behaviour.
1.3 Explore the feasibility of implementing a
case management approach for
persistent perpetrators of anti-social
behaviour.
1.4 Improve understanding of the links
between anti-social behaviour and
homelessness.

Responsibility
Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team

Target Dates
Start
End
July 2015

Progress Update

August
2015

Stacey Waller/Andy
Cook
April 2015

March
2016

April 2015

March
2016

Michelle Westerby/Jo
Kavanagh

Paul Fisher/County
ASB Co-ordinator

Anti-Social Behaviour
Configuration Group September
2015
Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team

November
2015

April 2016

January
2015

10

1.5
1.6

Promote the use of Restorative Justice in
response to anti-social behaviour across
partner agencies.
Work with the Substance Misuse Coordinator to ensure the Blue Light Project
is integrated with ASB processes.

C/I Paul
Timmins/Restorative
Justice Co-ordinator
County ASB Coordinator and
Substance Misuse
Co-ordinator

Page 57

Year 2
2.0 Produce a weekly briefing on anti-social
behaviour repeat perpetrator to share with
partners.
2.1 Develop a partnership response to
homelessness related anti-social
behaviour.
2.2 Review and evaluate the use of
Restorative Justice (including Community
Remedy) for anti-social behaviour cases.
Year 3

Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team
TBC
C/I Paul Timmins/
Restorative Justice
Co-ordinator

April 2015

March
2016

June 2015

August
2015

April 2016

September
2016

April 2016

March
2017

April 2016

March
2017

Measures:
Indicator
Performance
reporting on early
intervention
measures (inc.
FWT and YOS)

Baseline
2014/15

Direction of
Travel

Target
2015/16

Target
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Progress Update

TBC

11

Outcome 4: Encourage a problem solving approach to identified locations affected by antisocial behaviour
Ref

Task

Page 58

Year 1
1.0 Identify priority locations which
disproportionately suffer from anti-social
behaviour.
1.1 Target identified priority locations which
disproportionately suffer from anti-social
behaviour.
Year 2
2.0 Produce a weekly briefing on anti-social
behaviour repeat location/hotspot to share
with partners.
2.1 Implement performance monitoring of antisocial behaviour priority locations.
Explore the feasibility of implementing a
case management approach to anti-social
behaviour hot spot/priority locations.
Year 3

Responsibility

Target Dates
Start
End

Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team
Responsibility will
depend on those
locations identified.

July 2015

Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team
Safer Communities
Commissioning
Team

TBC

TBC

TBC

TBC

2.2

Configuration Group

October
2015

Progress Update

October
2015
March
2017

September April 2016
2015

12

Measures:
Indicator

Baseline
2014/15

Number of police
recorded incidents
of ASB that occur
within priority
areas

Direction of
Travel

Target
2015/16

Target
2016/17

Target
2017/18

Progress Update

TBC

Resources
Initiative

Page 59

Anti-Social Behaviour Co-ordinator

Projected
Annual
Spend
£50,000

Mediation Service for Neighbourhood Dispute £9,000
Related Cases of Anti-Social Behaviour
Support Service for Vulnerable Victims of
£46,652
Anti-Social Behaviour

Period

Lead

Progress Update

April 2015 –
March 2016
April 2015 –
March 2016
April 2014 –
March 2016

CI Timmins

Funding confirmed – all
partners contributing
Contract signed. Qlty contract
meetings booked.
Contract signed. Qtly contract
meetings booked.

Claire Seabourne
Claire Seabourne

Risk Register
Risk Key Risks
No

Consequences of RAG
Control Procedures
Risk
Rating

Risk
Owner

1.



ASB SMB
Chair

Loss of ASB Coordinator



Loss of coordination
Lack of
consistency



Source funding
for 2016/17

Target
Completion
Date
March 2017

Progress
Update

13

2.

Sentinel system
fails to fulfil our
case management
objectives



Failure to
respond and
effectively
manage high
risk victims

Monitor system
functionality.



Ensure all
technical
problems are
reported to the
Sentinel
Administrator



Ensure any
identified risks
associated with
Sentinel are
raised at the ASB
SMB and if
necessary
escalate to the
LCSP
Ensure effective
communication is
maintained
between all
partners via the
County ASB Coordinator via
regular meetings
and progress
updates.
Hold quarterly

Page 60



3.

Lack of
communication,
engagement and
commitment
across partners



Reputational
Risk to the
partnership
and individual
organisations





ASB SMB
Chair

September 2015

ASB SMB
Chair

March 2018

The use of an
alternative
case
management
system is
being
explored – led
by the LCSP.

14





4.

Page 61

Failure to achieve
sustainable
funding for the
delivery of key
services.



Loss of ASB
vulnerable
victim support
service and
mediation.





5.

Insufficient
resources across
all partner
agencies.



6.

Lack of support
from Shared Legal
Services and CPS



Impact on
response
provided to
victims and
enforcement
against
perpetrators
Prevents
officers from
taking swift





SMB meetings.
Develop policies
and procedures
that are agreed by
all partners.
Ensure concerns
raised by partners
are discussed at
the ASB SMB for
resolution.
Conduct an
evaluation of both
services.
Produce robust
businesses cases
for future funding.
Ensure partners
are aware of new
funding
opportunities.
Partners to
consider how to
work together not
only within their
district but the
wider partnership.
Improve
engagement with
prosecuting

ASB SMB
Chair

January/February
2016

ASB SMB
Chair

March 2016

ASB SMB
Chair

15

to use some of the
new powers and
tools introduced by
the ASB Crime
and Policing Act
2014.

effective action
against
perpetrators of
ASB.





7.

Page 62

Poor engagement 
from Mental Health
Services



Cases
remaining open
for prolonged
periods of time
whilst officers
try to ascertain
a diagnosis.
Risk of
inappropriate
action being
taken.







teams
Improve
understanding of
new ASB
legislation within
Shared Legal
Services and
CPS.
Ensure all
concerns are
taken to the
LCSP.
Inform and seek
support from the
LCSP to improve
partnership
working with
mental health
services.
Ensure necessary
information
protocol is in
place.
Work with LPFT
to improved
information
sharing
mechanisms.

ASB SMB
Chair

16

South Holland District Council

Anti-Social Behaviour
Policy and Procedures
September 2013

Community Development

Page 63

Document Control and History
Version Control
Issue No. Author
1
Dee
Bedford

Issue Date
September
2013

Reasons for Issue
Anti-Social Behaviour Policy
needed to be reviewed as last
Policy was written in 2004

Approval of draft and final approval process
Issue No. Approval
Name
Signature and Date
Process

1

Revision Schedule
Issue No. Approval
Process

Name

Signature and Date

2

Added to Policy Register
Yes/No
Policy Officer Signature and
Date

Page 64

Signature and Date

Page 2 of 15

CONTENTS

Introduction ...................................................................................................... 4
Scope – Policy Aim .......................................................................................... 4
Legislation or Executive Summary ................................................................... 4
Policy Consultation and Consideration ............................................................ 5
Policy Statement .............................................................................................. 5
Implementation .............................................................................................. 11
Management Control and Organisation ......................................................... 12
Monitoring ...................................................................................................... 12
Related Policies and Strategies ..................................................................... 12
Appendices .................................................................................................... 12

Page 65

Page 3 of 15

Introduction
The Anti-Social Behaviour Policy ensures that the Council has a corporate
approach to dealing with victims of Anti-Social Behaviour.

Scope – Policy Aim
The aim of this Policy is to provide guidance to officers responsible for the
enforcement of Anti-Social Behaviour and explain to and inform employees
and the public how the Council will enforce the legislation available.

Legislation or Executive Summary
Section 218a of the Housing Act 1996 inserted by Section 12 Anti-Social
Behaviour Act 2003 required Landlords that are local housing authorities to
prepare and publish policies and procedures in relation to Anti-Social
Behaviour. This Authority has taken the view that the legislation should cover
all areas and activities that impact on residents and communities. Therefore
these Policies and Procedures should support the priorities of The Council, its
corporate aims and objectives.
The way in which Anti-Social Behaviour is viewed has significantly changed
over the last 10 years and the Council remains committed to its reduction. The
Council is committed to supporting victims of Anti-Social Behaviour and
ensuring that they are treated with respect and that their complaints of AntiSocial Behaviour are taken seriously.
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership agreed ‘Anti-Social Behaviour’ as
one of its five Strategic Priorities which was also adopted locally by the East
Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership. The Council is represented at
the Anti-Social Behaviour Strategic Management Board which feeds into
Lincolnshire’s Community Safety partnership.
In 2012 the first Police and Crime Commissioner, Alan Hardwick was elected
and one of his main priorities within the Police and Crime Plan 2013-2017 was
to reduce Anti-Social Behaviour across Lincolnshire. The plan also
encourages the use of working in partnership in both preventing and
responding to Anti-Social Behaviour. At South Holland District Council the
reduction of repeat offenders, victims and locations are our focus and we work
closely with partner agencies through the multi-agency case management
system, Sentinel to achieve this.
The Council will continue to ensure that it acts on any changes by
Government through it’s latest change to legislation: The Anti-Social
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act which is expected to receive Royal Ascent
by the end of Spring 2014.

Page 66

Page 4 of 15

Policy Consultation and Consideration
This policy has been prepared using guidance from the Lincolnshire AntiSocial Behaviour Partnership Policy and also following discussions with other
Council Services.
This policy has been reviewed by Policy Development Panel.

Policy Statement
1. Introduction
The term Anti-Social Behaviour is used to describe a wide range of nuisance,
disorder and crime that affects people is their daily lives. Anti-Social
Behaviour now sits alongside criminal behaviour due to it’s impact on an
individuals quality of life.
There are a number of definitions for Anti-Social Behaviour however at South
Holland District Council we largely follow the definition from the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998,
“Any person acting in a manner that caused or was likely to cause
harassment, alarm or distress to one or more persons…”
2. Principles of enforcement
The overriding principle of enforcement and that which has been adopted by
South Holland District Council is contained within the Office of the Deputy
Prime Minister’s Enforcement concordat. Any enforcement action that is taken
has to be in the best interest of the public and the four principles of
enforcement are:
1. Proportionality – the degree of enforcement action taken should be
proportional to risk involved
2. Consistency – officers should take similar approach in similar
circumstances to achieve similar outcomes
3. Transparency – making sure that our role is clear to agencies,
employees and customers and that any advice given or action taken by
enforcement officers is understood
4. Targeting – inspection priorities are aimed at the highest risk areas and
we identify those responsible for controlling those risks
The Council will be guided by codes of practice issued under the various
pieces of legislation. Any departure from this must be exceptional, capable of
justification and approved by the Assistant Director of Democratic Services.

5. Enforcement Options

Page 67

Page 5 of 15

The Authority’s Services may use a variety of means including education,
advice and guidance, warning letters and or legal notices to ensure that
individuals are made aware of their actions, responsibilities and what the
outcome may be depending on the individual circumstances. The following
actions may be taken:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

No action necessary
Mediation
Informal action – written or verbal advice
Issuing of formal notices
Use of formal cautions
Seizure of equipment
Direct action
Prosecution

6. Enforcement options specific to available legislation
The options available for the enforcement of Anti-Social Behaviour are
contained primarily with the Housing Act 1996, the Crime and Disorder Act
1998 and the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.
Where there are serious cases of Anti-Social Behaviour and it is
proportionate, the following remedies can currently be applied:

1. Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABC)
These are voluntary written contract between an individual, local
authority and the Police. Under the contact, a person agrees not to be
involved in certain specified anti-social acts and agrees to a range of
undertakings. The contract is not legally binding and usually lasts for
six months, subject to review.
2. Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (ASBO)
Under Section 1, Crime and Disorder Act 1998, Anti-Social Behaviour
Orders are legally defined court orders designed to prevent persistent
anti-social behaviour. They have effect for a period of not less than two
years and if breached, a prison sentnec of between six months to five
years depending on the severity of the breach, can be imposed long
with a fine and or a community order. It should also be noted that the
imposition of a conditional discharge is specifically precluded by
section 11 of the Act.
3. Post Conviction Anti-Social Behaviour Orders (CRASBO)
Where a person has been convicted of a relevant offence in the
criminal courts, the convicting court can, under Section 1c of the Crime
and Disorder Act 1998, as amended by Action 64 of the Police Reform
Act 2002, make an order that is equivalent to an Anti-Social Behaviour
Order, prohibiting the defendant from doing anything specified in the
order.
4. Injunction and Exclusion Orders

Page 68

Page 6 of 15

Injunctions and exclusion orders under sections 153a, 153b, 153c or
153d of the Housing Act 1996. Injunctions were introduced to prevent
anti-social behaviour, unlawful use of premises and breaches of
tenancy agreements. The Injunction can force the perpetrator to do
something and or forbid a further breach of the tenancy. The length of
the order is left to the discretion of the judge, however it is likely to not
exceed twelve months and will only take affect once personally served
upon the perpetrator. Injunctions can also be obtained under Section
222 of the Local Government Act 1972.
5. Demoted Tenancies
Where a tenant, household member or visitor to their address is guilty
of Anti-Social Behaviour, the local housing authority will be able to
apply to the court for their tenancy to be demoted (which removes
certain privileges of a secure tenancy).
6. Possession Orders
Possession can be sought under ground 2, schedule 2 of the Housing
Act 1985, as substituted by Section 144 of the Housing Act 1996.
Ground 2 – The tenant or a person residing in or visiting the dwellinghouse:
1.
b) has been guilty of conduct causing or likely to cause a nuisance
or annoyance to a person residing, visiting or otherwise
engaging in a lawful activity in the locality, or
b) has been convicted of –
i)
using the dwelling-house or allowing it to be used for
immoral or illegal purposes, or
ii)
an arrestable offence committed in, or in the locality of
the dwelling-house

Any other legal action which could be taken with the support of the Police or
the Local Authority.
These powers will be reviewed when the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and
Policing Act receives Royal Assent.

7. Services provided by South Holland District Council
A range of services are available to deal with Anti-Social Behaviour as follows:

a)

Community Development Team
The Community Development Team aims to reduce anti-social
behaviour by working in partnership with a number of key

Page 69

Page 7 of 15

agencies such as the Police, other statutory agencies,
Registered Social Landlords, education, social services, victim
support, probation, and others depending upon the nature of the
problem.
The Community Development team will deal with cases of AntiSocial Behaviour where the alleged perpetrator is private rented
or own their own home.
The Community Development Team will provide training and
support to staff and other external bodies on issues around antisocial behaviour and will :
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)
viii)
ix)

b)

Log all cases of anti-social behaviour on the multiagency case management system, Sentinel
Complete risk assessment for all victims of anti-social
behaviour
Review individual cases of anti-social behaviour and
take appropriate enforcement action
Develop and implement anti-social behaviour policies
and procedures
Refer cases to the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group
Refer cases to and co-ordinate the Anti-Social
Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference
Help strengthen community partnerships

Housing Operational Team
Support will include direct contact with a member of the Housing
Management Team within the Housing Operational Team. The
Housing Management Officer has the overall responsibility for
coordinating the Landlord Services and enforcing the terms and
conditions of the tenancy. The Housing Management Team will
generally be the first point of contact and will make an initial
assessment as to the severity of the problem and the
appropriate course of action.
The Housing Management team will deal with cases of AntiSocial Behaviour where the alleged perpetrator is a Council
tenant.
They will also:
i)
Log all cases of anti-social behaviour on the multiagency case management system, Sentinel
ii)
Complete Risk Assessment for all victims of antisocial behaviour
iii)
Review individual cases of anti-social behaviour and
take appropriate enforcement action
iv)
Refer cases to the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group
v)
Refer cases to the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk
Assessment Conference

Page 70

Page 8 of 15

c) Environmental Protection
Environmental Protection deal directly with statutory nuisance
including:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

Noise Nuisance
Atmospheric Pollution
Light Pollution
Bonfires

They will also carry out the following:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

Log all cases of anti-social behaviour on the multiagency case management system, Sentinel
Complete risk assessments for all victims of antisocial behaviour
Review individual cases of anti-social behaviour and
take appropriate enforcement action
Refer cases to the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group
Refer cases to the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk
Assessment Conference

d) Other Council Enforcement
There are other types of Anti-Social Behaviour that affect South
Holland communities that do not need to be dealt with through
case management. These are issues that are tackled
individually.
These include:
i)
Refuse/Recycling presentation problems
ii)
Abandoned Vehicles
iii)
Fly tipping
iv)
Litter
v)
High Hedges
vi)
Graffiti
vii)
Fly-posting and unauthorized advertising
e) Referral to the other enforcement agencies
Where the enforcement action is outside of the local authority’s
remit, the following agencies may be contacted:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

Police – Criminal activities and Anti-Social Behaviour
that is not covered by the Council
Education
Registered Social Landlords
Environment Agency

f) Private Land Owners

Page 71

Page 9 of 15

The Council will work with private land owners where we cannot
take direct action with the legislation available to us as an
Authority.
g) Referral to Support or Advice Agencies
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)
viii)
ix)
x)

Victim Support
Mediation
Community Development Projects and Youth Workers
Social Services
Drug and Alcohol referral services
Independent legal advice
Citizens Advice Bureau
Domestic Abuse services and support
Referral to Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group
Referral to Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment
Conference

h) Risk Assessment Matrix
The Risk Assessment Matrix has been adopted to assist AntiSocial Behaviour case workers to assess the extent to which a
victim is at risk of harm due to their experience of Anti-Social
Behaviour. The matrix is a guidance tool, used in conjunction
with a case worker’s own judgment to ensure a thorough
assessment is conducted. By identifying the factors that may be
putting the victim at risk, tailored support can be offered to
reduce the risk of harm.
All victims of anti-social behaviour will be risk assessed and will
continue to be so until the case is closed to ensure correct
support is offered throughout the case.
i) Role of Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group
The role of the Anti-Social Behaviour Action Group is to ensure
that a coordinated approach is developed to resolve problems
surrounding Anti-Social Behaviour. The group invites relevant
agencies together to share and gather information.
All departments within South Holland District Council that are
involved in case management attend the meetings to ensure
that cases are dealt with as effectively and efficiently as
possible.

J) Role of Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference

Page 72

Page 10 of 15

The Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference
(ASBRAC) framework has been adopted by Community Safety
Partnerships across the country.
It provides multi-agency meetings to consider and address the
most complex and high risk cases and identify interventions, in
accordance with statutory requirements. The Conference
facilitates better information sharing and provides a transparent
record of action taken to support the vulnerable victims in our
communities. This coordinated response recognises that
joint working can help partners to make the best use of their
resources.
It offers a focal point for multi-agency activity to assist in the
reduction of anti-social behaviour, thereby reducing the number
of victims, the harm caused to them and the damage such
activity does to our communities.
The impact of Anti-Social Behaviour and the harm caused can
be dependent on factors such as the resilience of an
individual/family, the support already in place and the level of
repeat victimisation. This needs to be considered when risk
assessing a victim to ensure that harm is identified and reduced.
This is a clear message from the Home Office who have
recognised the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment
Conference process as good practice alongside effective case
management.
Cases that are determined as high risk by scoring over 31 on the
risk assessment matrix are referred to the conference along with
those referred on professional judgment.
All departments within South Holland District Council that are
involved in case management attend the meetings to ensure
that cases are dealt with as effectively and efficiently as
possible.

Implementation
The Community Development Manager is the responsible officer for the AntiSocial Behaviour Policy
This policy will be available to all staff dealing with case management at
induction and on the intranet. Anti-Social Behaviour will be discussed in teams
and any changes to the policy or procedures or examples of best practice will
be disseminated across the organisation.

Page 73

Page 11 of 15

Management Control and Organisation
Customer Services in Compass Point Business Services will need to be
aware of this policy.

Monitoring
This Policy and its Procedures will be reviewed every three years.
If changes to the policy or its procedures are needed due to changes in
legislation, then these will be amended by the Anti-Social Behaviour Officer
and be signed off by the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Anti-Social
Behaviour
Any change to the policy or its procedures will be notified to staff, elected
members and volunteers. All policy revisions will be tracked accordingly.
Progress against the policy’s aims and objectives will be reported annually to
the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Anti-Social Behaviour.

Related Policies and Strategies
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)
vii)
v)
vi)
vii)

Regulatory Services Enforcement Policy
Violence to Staff Policy
Training and Development Policy
Recruitment and Retention Policy
Equality and Diversity Policy
Data Protection Policy
Domestic Violence Policy
Child Protection Policy
Terms and Conditions of Tenancy Policy
Allocations Policy

Appendices
APPENDIX A
APPENDIX B

Incident Response Flow Chart
Legislation and Guidance

Page 74

Page 12 of 15

APPENDIX A
ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR INCIDENT RESPONSE FLOW CHART

Customer Services
take
initial
complaint:
Anti-Social
Behaviour Incident
occurring at the
time

Customer
Services take
initial complaint:
Reporting of antisocial behaviour
incident that has
already occurred

Advise caller to
contact Police on
999 and then call
SHDC back

Initial Risk
Assessment
completed as
part of AntiSocial Behaviour
pro-forma

Customer
Services to pass
to appropriate
department

Department to
contact victim
within 3 working
days

Full Risk
Assessment
Matrix completed
and case added
to Sentinel

Page 75

Page 13 of 15

APPENDIX B

LEGISLATION, GUIDANCE AND SUPPORT

Legislation
The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/contents
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1994/33/contents

www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents
Human Rights Act 1998
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
The Equality Act 2010
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=equality%20act
Crime and Disorder Act 1998
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
The Criminal Justice Act 2003
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/contents
The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/38/contents

Guidance and Support
Victim Support service in Lincolnshire
http://www.totalvoicelincolnshire.org/
Lincolnshire Mediation
http://www.lincs-mediation.co.uk/

http://www.lincolnshirelscb.org.uk
Addaction (Drug and Alcohol support service
http://www.addaction.org.uk
Drug and Alcohol Referral Team (DART)
http://www.lpft.nhs.uk/health-professionals/dart
Citizens Advice Burreau
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/

Framework (Homelessness support)
http://www.frameworkha.org/

Page 76

Page 14 of 15

Women’s Aid (Domestic Abuse Support
http://www.womensaid.org.uk/
Families Working Together
http://microsites.lincolnshire.gov.uk/children/partners/families-workingtogether/
Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue
http://microsites.lincolnshire.gov.uk/LFR
Lincolnshire Police
http://www.lincs.police.uk/
Families Working Together
http://microsites.lincolnshire.gov.uk/children/partners/families-workingtogether/

Page 77

Page 15 of 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Housing and the Housing Manager

To:

Cabinet – 21 July 2015

(Author:

Richard Scorthorne, Housing Landlord Manager)

Subject:

Various Areas of Housing Land

Purpose:

To seek authority to appropriate existing Council owned land from the
Housing Revenue Account to the General Fund

RECOMMENDATIONS:
1)

That delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director (Commercialisation) in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing to appropriate such HRA land held for Part
II Housing Act 1985 purposes as may be suitable (as described in this report and as may be
identified in the future) to the general fund for development purposes pursuant to the Town &
Country Planning Act 1991;

2)

That the HRA be credited at full market value from the general fund in respect of any land
appropriated under (1) above;

3)

That notice of any intended appropriations of land be advertised as required by legislation
and that the Executive Director (Commercialisation) give due consideration to any
consultation responses before exercising the delegated authority in (1) above; and

4)

That, subject to (1) and (2) above, delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director
(Commercialisation) to proceed with subsequent disposals of such land to the Council’s
housing company.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) holds all “Housing” assets for the purposes
of Part II of the Housing Act 1985, maintaining separation from the Council’s non-housing
functions (those assets being held within the Council’s General Fund).

1.2

The HRA contains many assets, including:








1.3

Dwellings (including houses, bungalows and flats)
Garages and garage plots
Community Centres
Guest Rooms
Sewage treatment plants and pumping stations
Roadways
Land

As part of an ongoing review of the HRA’s assets, two sites have been identified which are
considered to be no longer needed for Housing purposes. They are:
a) Existing playing field to the rear of nos. 115 to 173 (odd nos.) Queens Road, Spalding

Page 79

b) Part of the existing playing field between no. 126 Severn Road and nos. 23 to 26
Coronation Close, Spalding as shown on the plan in Appendix B to this report.
1.4

The sites have been considered in terms of whether they are used for a purpose which
relates to the provision of Housing under Part II of the Housing Act 1985 and whether they
continue to be required for that purpose. The following summary shows why, for the sites
listed, this is not considered to be the case:
a) Queens Road, Spalding – this land is currently used for the purposes of open space,
but is not specifically provided for the benefit of the Council’s housing tenants. For this
reason, it is proposed that the land be appropriated to the Council’s general fund, where
other open space land is held and maintained.
b) Severn Road, Spalding – this land is currently used for the purposes of open space, but
is not specifically provided for the benefit of the Council’s housing tenants. For this
reason, it is proposed that the land be appropriated to the Council’s general fund, where
other open space land is held.

1.5

The purpose of this report is to seek authority to appropriate the sites to the general fund.
Further sites may follow in due course, as the review of HRA assets continues.

2.0

APPROPRIATION OF HOUSING LAND

2.1

Where land was purchased for housing purposes or since its purchase it has been
appropriated to housing use it will be held under Part II Housing Act 1985.

2.2

Prior to any disposal, land currently accounted for in the HRA needs to be appropriated to
the appropriate statutory power (in this case, the Town & Country Planning Act 1991).
Disposals of vacant land must be made at a price not less than best consideration unless a
suitable general disposal consent is available. The Council’s own policy may be made at
any price determined by the local authority. However, it should be remembered that the
Council’s own policy on sales is that in all cases, the principle of obtaining best
consideration be applied unless there are good reasons for not doing so (minute
355(b)/96). It is proposed that HRA land will only be appropriated/disposed of for market
value.

2.3

Where open space is intended to be appropriated, the Council is unable to do so without
giving notice of their intention in a local paper for 2 consecutive weeks. Any comments
received during that consultation process must be considered before a decision to
appropriate (or not) the land can be made. This is reflected within the recommendations to
this report.

3.0

OPTIONS

3.1

Option 1 – Do Nothing (not recommended)
The Council’s HRA holds many “non-dwellings”. Where these assets are no longer held for
a Housing purpose (under Part II of the Housing Act 1985) and will not be required for such
purposes, the Council should determine whether those assets should be appropriated to
the Council’s general fund. To do nothing may mean that the Council is not holding its
assets in the most appropriate place.

Page 80

3.2

Option 2 – To appropriate the identified Council owned HRA land to the general fund
(recommended)
As mentioned in 1.4 above, it is considered that the sites detailed are no longer providing a
purpose which relates to the provision of Housing under Part II of the Housing Act 1985.
Consequently, it is considered that the sites should be appropriated to the Council’s general
fund.

4.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1

To enable the Council to ensure its assets are held in the most appropriate location,
reflecting the purpose they are held for.

5.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1

It is considered that the recommendation to this report will enable the Council to ensure its
assets are held in the most appropriate location, reflecting the purpose they are held for.

6.0

IMPLICATIONS

6.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

6.1.1

It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

6.2

Constitution & Legal

6.2.2

Legal advice has been obtained from Eversheds about appropriation and disposals of HRA
land. That advice is reflected throughout this report.

6.3

Contracts

6.3.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.4

Corporate Priorities

6.4.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.5

Crime and Disorder

6.5.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

6.6.1

It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

6.7

Financial

6.7.1

Where land is to be appropriated from the HRA to the general fund, the general fund will
pay the market value for that land. The sites have been subject to a market valuation, which
has provided the following valuation figures:
a) Queens Road, Spalding
b) Severn Road, Spalding

-

£22,500
£12,500

Page 81

6.7.2

The General Fund will be able to meet the cost of the land purchase from its Organisational
Development reserve, from historic earmarked balances within this reserve, which are no
longer required. Ongoing maintenance costs will be funded from efficiencies in year, which
will be reported Quarterly to Cabinet.

6.8

Health & Wellbeing

6.8.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.9

Risk Management

6.9.1

The main risks associated with appropriation and/or disposal of Council owned land
concern selling for less than best consideration. In this case, as any land to be appropriated
to the general fund will be charged at market value, it is considered that this will address
the risk.

6.10

Safeguarding

6.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
6.11

Staffing

6.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.
6.12

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.12.1 The sites detailed in this report (Queens Road, Spalding and Severn Road, Spalding) are
currently used as open space. Where open space is intended to be appropriated, the
Council is unable to do so without giving notice of their intention in a local paper for 2
consecutive weeks. Any comments received during that consultation process must be
considered before a decision to appropriate (or not) the land can be made. This is reflected
within the recommendations to this report.
7.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1

This report and its recommendations directly affect the Spalding St Paul’s ward, but have
the potential to affect all wards within the South Holland district.

8.0

ACRONYMS

8.1

HRA

-

Housing Revenue Account

Background papers:- Corporate Land & Property Policy
Land Sales Procedure

Page 82

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Richard Scorthorne, Housing Landlord Manager
01775 764671
rscorthorne@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A – Site Plan – Queens Road, Spalding
Appendix B – Site Plan – Severn Road, Spalding

Page 83

Appendix A – Site Plan – Queens Road, Spalding

Page 84

Appendix B – Site Plan – Severn Road, Spalding

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Finance and the Executive
Director - Place (S151 Officer)

To:

Cabinet - 21 July 2015

(Author:

Mark Woolerton (Recovery and Support Team Leader) and Andy
Eaman (Investigations Team Leader))

Subject:
Purpose:

Write Offs
To recommend writing off irrecoverable debts

Recommendation:
That the amounts identified in this report are approved for write off.
NOTE: Please raise any queries that you may have about individual write offs, as
included in the Appendices, with Mark Woolerton (Recovery and Support Team
Leader) at least two working days ahead of the scheduled meeting.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

This report reviews irrecoverable debts over £1,050 which requires Cabinet approval for
write off. A summary of these debts is shown in the table below and they total £23998.69

1.2

The need to write debt off usually arises due to the debtor being untraceable, insolvent,
ceased trading with no assets or deceased with insufficient funds in the estate. Where
possible all methods of recovery are pursued before making the decision to write off. This
can include internal recovery action, use of debt collection agents, external tracing agents
and procedures through the Courts.

1.3

A summary of debts requiring approval for write off is given in the following tables.

Value
by
Debtor
£
1,050 1,500
1,500 2,000
Over
2,000
Total

Council
Tax

Business
Rates

Accounts
Receivable

£

£

£

Former
Tenant
Arrears
£

1052.13

1,358.44

1303.32

2355.45

5584.37

3,502.54

1830.60

7414.97

5691.29

15,629.91

3099.96

12327.79

20,490.89

6233.88

Page 87

Housing
Benefit
Overpayments
£

5437.02

5437.02

TOTAL
£

14228.27

23998.69

Value

Council
Tax
£

2014/15
Total
written off
in that year
2015/16
Previously
approved
write offs
Write offs
included in
this report
2015/16
Total
written off in
this year so
far

1.4

103814.54

Business
Rates

Accounts
Receivable

£

69055.53

£

67,919.01

Former
Tenant
Arrears
£

Housing
Benefit
Overpayments
£

19597.85

19146.55

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

12327.79

20,490.89

6233.88

5437.02

20,490.89

6233.88

0.00 or
0.00 % of
2015/16
collectable
debit

12327.79 or
0.04%of
2015/16
collectable
debit

5437.02 or
0.46% of
repayable
overpayments

TOTAL
£

211614.47

0.00

23998.69

23998.69

Details of the individual debts are shown in the confidential appendices as listed below:






Appendix A – Council Tax;
Appendix B – Business Rates;
Appendix C – Accounts Receivable (formerly Sundry Debtors);
Appendix D – Former Tenant Arrears; and
Appendix E – Housing Benefit Overpayments.

1.5

All debts approved for write off will be set against the existing bad debt provisions
and they can be resurrected in full or in part at any time should new information come to
light suggesting that they may be recoverable after all. In every case, we believe that all
collection options have been exhausted and that there are now no realistic prospects of
recovery.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To approve the recommendation.

2.2

To approve the recommendation with amendments.

2.3

Do nothing.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

All recovery methods available have been considered and where appropriate pursued
before making the decision to write off.

Page 88

6

7

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.0

IMPLICATIONS

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.2

Constitution & Legal

5.2.2

This report has been written in line with the Constitution.

5.2.3

The Appendices to this report are confidential as they include exempt information as
described in Schedule 12A Part 1, Paragraph 1 (information relating to any individual),
Paragraph 2 (information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual) and
Paragraph 3 (information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person
[including the authority holding that information]).

5.2.4

The anticipated benefits of publishing information identifying individuals does not outweigh
the risks of a data protection breach and it is therefore considered that the information
should remain exempt from publication and public meetings.

5.3

Contracts

5.3.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.4

Corporate Priorities

5.4.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.5

Crime and Disorder

5.5.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.7

Financial

5.7.1

The proposed write offs will be written off against the existing bad debt provisions.

5.8

Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.9

Risk Management

5.9.1

It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.10

Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

Page 89

5.11

Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications
5.12

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The Executive Director - Place (S151 Officer) and Portfolio Holder with responsibility for
Finance are both consulted with on the contents of this report. Once approval of this
report has been given, debts are able to be written off; that are detailed within the
confidential appendices attached to this report.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
The Council has a provision for the write off of debts therefore no wards or communities
are directly affected.

Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:

Mark Woolerton – Recovery and Support Team Leader
Andy Eaman – Investigations Team Leader

Telephone Number:

01775 764631
01775 764414

Email:

mark.woolerton@cpbs.com
andy.eaman@cpbs.com

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

Yes

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Appendices attached to this report for consideration:
(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 1
(Information relating to any individual), 2 (Information which is likely to reveal the identity of
any individual) and 3 (Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information)
Appendix A – Council Tax Write Offs
Appendix B – Business Rate Write Offs
Appendix C – Accounts Receivable (formerly Sundry Debtors) Write Offs
Appendix D – Former Tenant Arrears Write Offs
Appendix E – Housing Benefit Overpayment Write Offs

Page 90

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 13.

This page is intentionally left blank

